



The Swedish regional climate modeling program, SWECLIM, 1996-2003. Final Report.



The Swedish regional climate modeling program, SWECLIM, 1996-2003.

Final Report.

Markku Rummukainen and the SWECLIM participants



Report Summary / Rapportsammanfattning

Issuing Agency/Utgivare	Report number/Publikation			
Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institut	e RMK No 104			
S-601 76 NORRKÖPING	Report date/Utgivningsdatum			
Sweden	December 2003			
	December 2003			
Author (s)/Författare				
Markku Rummukainen and the SWECLIM participants				
Title (and Subtitle/Titel The Swedish regional climate modeling program, SWECLIM, 1996-2003. Final report.				
Abstract/Sammandrag				
The Swedish Regional Climate Modeling Program (SWECLIM) was a 6.5-year national research				
effort with the aim of providing the Swedish society with more detailed regional climate scenarios				
than those available from international global clim SWECLIM built up a new scientific niche in Sw		mate modeling provided		
users with regionally detailed climate scenarios,	-	- -		
science. Regional climate modeling was a ma	-	_		
processes as well as on observed data on the Balt				
major impact study part was on hydrological	modeling, to elaborate	the potential impact of		
regional-scale climate change on hydropower, de	-	•		
types of impact studies were not performed by	•	-		
outside experts to pursue such knowledge. This change and created new insights into planning p	_	_		
Nordic, European and global arenas.	nocesses, especially in	sweden, but also on the		
Examples of practical users of the results wer	e experts and decision	-makers within national,		
regional and local administration, organizations,	-			
general public. These Swedish efforts on climate				
and assessment networks, and to the quest for be	tter knowledge base to a	act on in dealing with the		
climate problem.	/ECLIM 111	:		
This report provides the final reporting of the SW complements the results published in scientific	* - ·			
		_		
provided to the general public. The focus here is on the work undertaken during program phase 2, lasting from July 2000 to June 2003.				
Key words/sök-, nyckelord				
Climate change, climate modeling, climate scenario, regional climate, regional climate model,				
Mistra, SWECLIM				
Supplementary notes/Tillägg	Number of pages/Antal sidor	Language/Språk		
This work is a part of the SWECLIM program	47	English		
ISSN and title/ISSN och titel				
0347-2116 SMHI Reports Meteorology Climatology				
Report available from/Rapporten kan köpas från:				
SMHI				
S-601 76 NORRKÖPING				
Sweden				



Contents

1	INTRODUCTION
2	THIS REPORT AND ITS RELATION TO OTHER DOCUMENTS 3
3	SHORT SUMMARY OF PHASE 1: 1997-2000 4
4	PROGRAM ACTIVITIES DURING PHASE 2: 2000- 2003 4
4.1	Communication 5
4.2	Subprogram 1: Development of regional climate modeling7
4.3	Subprogram 2: Computation of regional climate scenarios 8
4.4	Subprogram 3: User interaction and hydrological impacts 10
4.5	Subprogram 4: Theoretical and analytical studies of climate 10
4.6	The supplementary projects12
4.6.1	Detection
4.6.2	Arctic simulations at MISU
4.6.3	The influence of changes in the Northern North Atlantic on the Nordic region. 13
4.6.4 scena	Water resources for all of Sweden: A runoff mapping system for climate change ario simulations in Sweden
4.6.5 due to	Transport of nitrogen: Expected changes in nitrogen transport and algal growth climate change15
4.6.6 result	Evaluation of inter-annual variability and trends in air quality and deposition using s from RCA2 coupled to MATCH15
4.6.7	Improved modeling of Stable Boundary Layers16
4.6.8	Statistical downscaling of daily climate information in Sweden 17
4.6.9 agricu	Estimate effects on nutrient leakage from alterations in Swedish regional ultural production caused by climate change
4.7	Networks and research cooperation19
5 F	REFLECTIONS ON THE PROGRAM PERIOD 20
5.1	Program management
5.2	The functionality of the SWECLIM network
5.3	Interaction with Mistra21
5.4	Communication and publishing21
5.5	Funding
5.6	Summary of practical lessons learnt22

6	OUTLOOK	.23
7	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 24
8	LISTS OF PUBLICATIONS	.25
8.1	Peer-reviewed scientific articles	. 25
8.2	Reports and contributions to reports	. 31
8.3	Published conference abstracts and contributions to proceedings.	. 35
8.4	SWECLIM Newsletters	. 43
8.5	Dissertations and Masters theses	43
8.6	Popular articles, external Newsletter contributions	45
8.7	Misc. external publications featuring SWECLIM's results	. 47

1 Introduction

The Swedish Regional Climate Modeling Program (SWECLIM) was a 6.5-year national research effort with the aim of providing the Swedish society with more detailed regional climate scenarios than those available from international global climate model simulations. The program activities started in earnest during the second half of 1997, and lasted until mid-2003. Counting also in the planning of the program, SWECLIM can be dated back to around 1995 (Swedish Climate Modelling Programme, 1995). The background was the increasing scientific and societal concern on the perceived enhancement of the greenhouse effect, due to manmade climate forcing and projected to lead to global warming, other changes in the climate system and thus impacts on natural and human systems in the decades to come. Especially the lack of coherent regional information on the plausible future conditions was recognized. To address this gap became the raison d'être for SWECLIM.

During the 6.5 years of research, SWECLIM built up a new scientific niche in Sweden, namely that of climate modeling, provided users with regionally detailed climate scenarios, expert advice and synthesis of climate change science. To meet the set goals required development and use of so-called regionalization techniques. Regional climate modeling was a major activity, although supported with other studies of the climate processes and available observed data on the Baltic Sea, regional hydrology and meteorology. SWECLIM performed also a considerable amount of hydrological modeling, to elaborate the potential impact of regional-scale climate change on hydropower, dam safety and water resources in general. Other types of impact studies were not performed by SWECLIM itself, but means were provided for outside experts to pursue such knowledge. Indeed, concretization of the potential impact of climate scenarios calculated by SWECLIM was done by a number of external groups with various branch-specific expertise. This furthered the general understanding of climate change and created new insights into planning processes, especially in Sweden, but also on the Nordic, European and global arenas.

Examples of practical users of the results were experts and decision-makers within national, regional and local administration, organizations, businesses, politicians, as well as media and the general public. These Swedish efforts on climate science also contributed to international research and assessment networks, and to the quest for better knowledge base to act on in dealing with the climate problem.

2 This report and its relation to other documents

The background of SWECLIM and the work undertaken during program phase 1 between 1997 and June 2000 was described by Rummukainen et al. 2001. In addition to reporting on Model development, Regional climate and water resources scenarios, Results from statistical downscaling and Basic process studies and data analyses, the interaction with users and media was discussed. The latter was thereafter reported to Mistra in April 2002 (SWECLIM 2002b).

The financial report to Mistra is provided separately.

The present report completes the earlier reporting on program phase 1 and the relatively recent report on User interaction and Communication, also mentioned above. Thus, the present report focuses on the more recent work during program phase 2 (July 2000 – June 2003), although where possible we refer to available material to avoid unnecessary duplication. Specific deliverables listed in the program plan are tabulated in Section 4, where also other aspects of the conductance of the program are treated. We provide some reflection on lessons learnt, in terms of the execution of the program in Section 5. A short outlook for the future activities building on SWECLIM is provided in Section 6. Acknowledgements for those who in one way or another have supported the activities are gratefully given in Section 7. For the detailed scientific findings, the reader is referred to the publications listed in Section 8.

3 Short summary of Phase 1: 1997-2000

In Phase 1 of SWECLIM, the program activities were organized in three subprograms: 1) Regional climatological interpretation, 2) Climate system processes - atmosphere/surface and 3) Climate system processes - ocean. This structure reflected the intensive modeling development during the first half of the program, covering meteorology, oceanography and hydrology. Each of the subprograms was characterized by collaboration between the participating university groups, the SMHI research department and the Rossby Centre established at SMHI. During the early part of Phase 1, the basic strategies on choosing model systems and model development philosophy were set in place. Contacts were established with international climate modeling centers and networks. The program grew in terms of expertise and reached its final volume by year 1999. The first Swedish regional climate scenario was calculated as early as 1998, based on the early version of the SWECLIM regional climate model, and an international global climate model simulation. The first SWECLIM scenario was soon followed by additional ones in 1999-2000 based on the successively improved regional climate modeling system and on additional global simulations. Already the first scenario was received with interest by the media and the society, a pattern that was to be repeated with each new major milestone of the program. The communication breakthrough really occurred in August 2000, when SWECLIM organized a climate conference in Stockholm, to mark the end of its Phase 1 activities.

More detailed reporting on Phase 1 is provided by SWECLIM (1999b) and Rummukainen et al. (2001). The reader is also referred to the relevant scientific publications listed in Section 8.

4 Program activities during Phase 2: 2000-2003

In Phase 2, model development and scenario simulations were continued targeting coupled (atmosphere-land surface/hydrology-lakes-Baltic Sea-ice) regional climate system modeling. Increasing emphasis was put on the provision of climate scenarios and information to users. To reflect these priorities, the Phase 2 program organization was restructured into four subprograms:

- 1) Development of regional climate models
- 2) Computation of regional climate scenarios
- 3) User interaction and hydrological impacts
- 4) Theoretical and analytical studies of climate

The continuous investment in modeling development to the creation of the even internationally very advanced coupled atmosphere-ocean-hydrology regional climate model system, the RCAO, applied with Northern Europe in Focus. In 2002-2003, the improved modeling tools were applied to create a suite of regional scenarios covering different global climate models and emission scenarios. These scenarios were complemented by direct and statistical analysis of a wider range of global simulations, and they were put through hydrological modeling to create water resources scenarios. Towards the end of Phase 2, first attempts to put the scenarios into better perspective with the most recent climate conditions were made, with comparisons of how observed regional changes from the 1961-90 period to the 1990's related to the simulated regional changes during the 21st Century.

Phase 2 was also marked by increasing contributions to international networks, including non-funded co-operation and European and Nordic research projects. Contributions were also made in the context of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and national reporting to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Especially marked was the avalanche of societal demand for information on climate change and climate modeling (e.g. SWECLIM 2002b). This was recognized with a separate Communication Plan in the general program planning process (SWECLIM 2002c).

Much of the Phase 2 work was reported during the program execution (SWECLIM 2000b,c; 2001a,b; SWECLIM 2002a,b,c; SWECLIM 2003a). The reader is also referred to the relevant scientific publications listed in Section 8.

4.1 Communication

The program communication activities intensified during Phase 2. The intense activity was greatly facilitated by the fact that SWECLIM had a dedicated person to manage these aspects. By the end of the program, three experts had held the position. (It could be noted that the first – Johan Mattson – had a background in oceanography, the second – Rune Joelsson – in meteorology and the third – Gunn Persson – in hydrology. This was unintentional, but rather fitting.) The Subprogram Leaders and the Program Director contributed a lot as well.

In addition to the SWECLIM climate conference in Stockholm in August 2000, another stepping stone was a paper on regional climate change that SWECLIM published in *Forskning & Framsteg* the same year. During Phase 2, the number of presentations of SWECLIM at various meetings was of the order of 150 per year.

Organized internal communication featured the semi-regular SWECLIM Newsletter (see Section 8.4) and the annual All Staff—meetings. The latter were also a means for planning.

External communication took place on different arenas.

- Scientific communication was much focused on contributions to conferences and meetings (cf. Section 8.3, for a non-exhaustive list of activities) and published papers (cf. especially Sections 8.1-8.2 and 8.4). On the national scale, events like the Stockholm Water Symposium, Energitinget and Transportforum bear a special notice. Of interest is the initiative by SMHI, Mistra, the municipality of Norrköping and the county administration of Östergötland on the conference Miljöforum as an annual meeting point between researchers and decision makers. It was held for the first time in August 2002 and was followed by a second meeting in 2003. Climate and SWECLIM were very much in focus in these meetings. SWECLIM also organized several own scientific Workshops and Summer schools open to external participation and featuring national and international experts.
- Expert communication also gained momentum during Phase 2. Contributions were made to the IPCC process both directly, as well as via the national focal point at the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, to the Arctic Climate Impact Assessment, ACIA, and to the national reporting to the UNFCCC. The program participants also contributed with expert advice and material to reports by national authorities ("remisser") relevant to the climate issue. Equally important were the relatively informal discussions with some of the more climate-sensitive sectors like the power industry, insurance companies, water supply, infrastructure and the environmental sector. Such dialogue certainly guided SWECLIM to focus on the very interesting issues for each sector.
- Popular communication occurred through interviews and other interaction with media, publishing (cf. Section 8.5, for a non-exhaustive account), lectures to a wide range of audience, the SWECLIM home page and direct interaction with interested individuals posing questions to SWECLIM via telephone, letters and electronic mail. A highlights was the publication of the issue No. 18 of Monitor both in English (*A warmer world*) and in Swedish (*En varmare värld*), produced in co-operation between the Swedish Environment Protection Agency and SWECLIM. It catered for a comprehensive review of the climate issue and contained recent results from SWECLIM presented in a very accessible manner. An archive of regional climate scenario results, in the form of drawn maps, has been available to the public, with updates in 2000 and 2003. Towards the end of Phase 2, a release of a public CD-ROM with SWECLIM data was also made.

The setting for the external communication activity can be described as a constant background demand, overlain by peaks caused by media coverage of new scientific results in Sweden or internationally, events in international negotiations and suchlike on climate, and, especially, the severe weather events. All these fed a growing public interest in climate change and variability. On the scale of Sweden the following events were especially noteworthy: the severe floods in 2000/2001 in Arvika and Lake Vänern, the extremely warm summers of 1997, 2002 and 2003, and the dry period that started in the summer of 2002. In Europe, the flooding disasters in River Odra in 1997 and in River Elbe in 2002, and the extremely dry and hot summer of 2003 in much of Europe, also touched many people.

The Phase 2 final SWECLIM scientific conference was held in Söderköping in June 2003, with participation of national and international experts, as well as stakeholders.

4.2 Subprogram 1: Development of regional climate modeling

Much of the major modifications and developments of the models used by SWECLIM took place during the first phase of SWECLIM. The activities during Phase 2 evolved around three main topics: 1) Refinement and further development of the atmospheric and land surface (RCA), ocean (RCO), lake (PROBE-lake) and hydrological (HBV) models, 2) Coupling of RCA and RCO and 3) Evaluation of the overall model system, as well as its various components.

After the intensive development during Phase 1, the main remaining problems in the RCA model were treatment of the surface energy and water balances and the description of radiation processes. The work on radiation managed some hurdles. Some important modifications were made in the existing code, which was in a number of tests found to perform unexpectedly well against more complicated schemes. Nevertheless, alternative schemes were still being considered by the end of Phase 1.

In the case of the surface energy and water balances, further improvements included a far better treatment of the effects of vegetation, and a soil-freezing algorithm to account for frozen ground. The new treatment featured different energy balances for the different surface types carried within a grid-square; for bare ground, few different vegetation and snow cover elements. An improved model for the treatment of snow was included, allowing some melted water to remain in the snow and to refreeze. A separate treatment of evaporation from the snow was also part of the improvement. Also included was a hydrological accounting for soil water transfer, based on the so-called HBV model at SMHI. A routing routine to transport local run-off generation in the region to the Baltic Sea was also developed.

In the ocean model, the suggested storm surge -model, to drive the water level variation in Kattegat and the water mass exchange between the North Sea and the Baltic Sea, was abandoned following successful work to statistically relate atmospheric pressure patterns to water-level variations in the Kattegat. New schemes for the vertical mixing in RCO were successfully tested and a simplified model for the White Sea was developed, to complement the regional representativeness of the SWECLIM model system.

The coupling of the models was a strategic goal. Indeed, since the very first regional climate scenario by SWECLIM, almost all of the scenarios have been coupled in some sense. In Phase 2, this work led to "full" coupling of RCA and RCO, complemented by the earlier mentioned large-scale routing of runoff. By this we mean that the fluxes between the atmosphere and the ocean are calculated only once and used by all the model components. (The earlier alternative was to pass so-called state variables, such as temperature, between the atmospheric calculation and the ocean calculation. Due to different development histories, the fluxes then calculated in the respective model in general differed. The physical process in the real system passes water, energy and momentum between the atmosphere and the underlying

surface as fluxes.) Several evaluation integrations were carried out to fine-tune the system. Especially the atmospheric model was applied for a number of other regions, in part to test it in other climate regimes, in part to contribute to international model intercomparisons and to profit from the availability of observation data not available in the Nordic region. An important milestone was the initiation of transferring the model system into the Arctic region.

As a result, the SWECLIM model system was improved. The coupled model system RCAO was consequently available, and applied for improved regional climate scenario calculations in subprogram 2. Some problems remained but over-all the quality of the separate models, and of the coupled system, was very good by the end of SWECLIM, in terms of applications for Northern Europe. Towards the end of Phase 2, additional model development efforts were ongoing, to contribute to the future Swedish and international climate research activities.

Among the central SWECLIM Subprogram 1 publications were Meier et al. (2003), Döscher et al. (2002), Meier and Döscher (2002), Samuelsson et al. (2003) and Bringfelt et al. (2001).

4.3 Subprogram 2: Computation of regional climate scenarios

All in all, SWECLIM published 11 regional climate scenarios. About half of these were calculated during Phase 2. The scenarios were based on the successively improved regional climate modeling system, and a subset of available global simulations, these in turn covering a subset of plausible future emission scenarios. As the number of possible futures is large, the uncertainty aspect was much in focus throughout the work.

In terms of global mean warming, the calculations made by SWECLIM corresponded rather to typical projections on a 100-year time scale, meaning that the future might unfold with smaller, or even larger changes over this period of time. Another way of looking at the scenarios would be to take them as pessimistic examples on a 50-year scale, or optimistic ones on a 150-year scale. Nevertheless, the described regional changes in especially temperature and in many cases precipitation, were large compared to past natural climate variability over comparable time seales. Across the SWECLIM suite of scenarios, a number of the ealculated changes were robust. For temperature, these included the magnitude of the warming, the regional warming being larger than the corresponding global mean, the seasonal contrast with the cold season affected more than the warm season and the non-linearity of changing temperature extremes. For precipitation, one robust feature was the mean increase especially in the north, and the tendency towards less precipitation in the southeast and south, especially in the summer. As the regional simulations, made as time slices towards the end of the 21st Century, grew longer, from the typical 10-year ones in Phase 1 to the 30-year ones in Phase 2, the emerging picture was that of somewhat increasing precipitation extremes, especially in summer. Towards the end of Phase 2, the analyses were proceeding more and more to how variability and extremes were projected to change due to global warming.

In case of the Baltic Sea, the scenario results for mean sea surface temperature changes, as well as those for sea ice, were rather robust across the different cases.

Salinity could not be handled well, due to both problems with the initialization of the future simulations, as well as the persistent positive precipitation bias in RCA and thus also in the coupled RCAO. (It can be noted that even though such a bias was found problematic in coupled modeling, in which the absolute values provided by one part of the model system fed into another part, it was not assessed to seriously impact the precipitation change scenarios, discussed earlier, taken as differences between two model calculations. A bias of the same origin and present in both calculations canceled out in practice). It was, however, shown that the uncertainty in treating salinity did not invalidate the simulation of water temperature, nor of sea ice. The whole Baltic Sea modeling activity was one of the major achievements of SWECLIM, considering that no such long calculations with such a detail had been performed earlier. Also, as typical global climate models lack a realistic Baltic Sea, there really was no alternative for own activity.

The various scenario results were widely distributed to external expert groups, and were used as forcing data for impact assessment on, especially, forest growth, windthrow, ecosystems, road maintenance, shipping conditions, soil-freezing, coastal planning and glacier development. The scenarios were used also by SWECLIM itself as input to water resources studies and, as Supplementary Projects, for air quality and eutrophication studies.

The regional climate scenarios computed by SWECLIM are of course only a small subset of plausible future developments. It is generally recognized that there is a genuine uncertainty on the future climate change. This uncertainty does not, however, concern so much whether or not mankind affects climate. It concerns the fact that it is not exactly known how sensitive the climate system is to emissions and the fact that it is not known how exactly these emissions will evolve. These aspects are studied by using different climate models, that provide alternative estimates of the climate system sensitivity constrained by physical considerations, and by using different emission scenarios. In Phase 2, SWECLIM based its regional scenario computations on two global climate models and two emission scenarios. The formers were the HadAM3H model of the Hadley Centre of the Meteorological Office and the ECHAM4/OPYC3 model of the Max-Planck-Institute for Meteorology in Hamburg, Germany. The latter were the so-called A2 and B2 emission scenarios of the IPCC SRES ones.

SWECLIM's studies confirmed that as on the global scale, even on the regional scale the computed changes grow with the accumulated emissions. The choice of the global model, even among models that project similar global mean changes, on the other hand was affirmed as very important in the Nordic region. This was especially true for variables such as precipitation and wind, and also experienced in the case of the problematic assessment for the Baltic Sea salinity mentioned earlier. An important underlying mechanism behind these differences was the response of the large-scale atmospheric circulation in the Atlantic and Arctic regions. How the circulation will respond to global warming is poorly understood, as exemplified by the very different responses of the global models mentioned above. One of them projected changes leading to intensified cold season westerlies towards the Nordic region, whereas the other project no mean change in the westerlies. (It can be noted that the importance and complexity of large-scale circulation in these parts of the

world is well-recognized. SWECLIM has included a study of this within Subprogram 4).

Among central SWECLIM Subprogram 2 publications, during Phase 2, were Räisänen et al. (2003a, b), Bernes (2003), Palmer and Räisänen (2002), Meier and Kauker (2003b), Haapala et al. (2001), Christensen et al. (2001) and Rummukainen et al. (2003).

4.4 Subprogram 3: User interaction and hydrological impacts

Studies of hydrological impacts of regional climate change were very much in focus throughout SWECLIM. At the beginning of the program, it was already perceived that major user interaction would emerge on this topic. This also became true. However, as the societal demand of information grew, user communication was managed as an activity on its own towards the end of Phase 2 (see Section 4.1).

The hydrological studies covered impact analyses of water resources in terms of long-term means, as well as in terms of extreme conditions. Given the great spatial variability in the hydrological conditions in Sweden, initially six test basins were studied as examples. These were later supplemented by additional basins of particular interest such as Lake Vänern, Glafsfjorden and Lule River, either for actuality, given the recent flooding events, or in the case of Lule River, for its strategic importance. Finally, a nation-wide analysis of impacts on water resources with a countrywide hydrological modeling was realized as a SWECLIM Supplementary Project (see Section 4.6).

The river flow and extreme flow situation studies were complemented by focused studies on soil moisture, frozen ground and groundwater carried out for the Svartberget research area in the north of Sweden. Water quality aspects were also studied in River Rönneå in the south of Sweden, again as a SWECLIM Supplementary Project (see Section 4.6).

In order to put the water resources scenarios in perspective, studies on trends and variability of river flow and flood extremes based on long time series of measurements were carried out. These studies proved useful also in the debate on recent flooding and fluctuations in the hydropower production in Sweden. It is true that there are historical counterparts to the individual extremes in recent years, but that does not have to mean that the cause of the event would be the same now and in the past. Mere data-analysis of long time series does not as such provide information on the underlying physical mechanisms. It does emphasize fundamental flaws in our perception of variability and risk due to weather and climate.

Among central SWECLIM Subprogram 3 publications, during Phase 2, were Bergström et al. (2001), Gardelin et al. (2002a), Gardelin et al. (2002b) and Lindström (2002).

4.5 Subprogram 4: Theoretical and analytical studies of climate

Application of statistical downscaling to create additional regional scenarios and studies of key climate processes in the atmosphere and in the ocean, relevant in the

regional climate system were in focus in this subprogram. Analyses were also made on selected long time series, especially of ocean variability. These studies aimed at putting the regional climate modeling into better perspective in terms of observed climate, at improving the regional model and at analyses of the sensibility of the regional climate to changing conditions.

Statistical downscaling

By the end of Phase I, statistical downscaling had been established as an activity to create alternative regional scenarios, a tool to evaluate climate models as well as a means for analysis of observations and for studies on how the large-scale appears to control our regional climate. In Phase I, it was found out that even though the atmospheric circulated expressed by sea level pressure patterns played a certain role in variations over the last 100 years, its role in the future climate change induced by emissions is likely limited. In Phase 2 the emphasis in statistical downscaling was on diagnostic studies and interpretations of the observed and modeled climate. Improved scenarios with estimated uncertainties were created and documented, thanks to the incorporation of the large-scale temperature and precipitation fields as drivers of the statistical downscaling in our region. Statistical downscaling was also found useful in studies of truly local-scale changes and on some climate variables such as sea ice and sea level. A systematic validation exercise of modeled precipitation, with non-standard data for Skåne, was also performed.

Studies of regional oceans (time series, processes)

The main objective was to study variations of the climate of the Baltic Sea itself, including long-term trends as well as variations on various timescales. During Phase I it was revealed that the variability on, say decadal timescales, was surprisingly large, indicating great sensitivity to variations in the meteorological conditions. The work during Phase 2 followed the same lines. More emphasize was given to mechanistic considerations along with extended studies of the historical records of data relevant for the Baltic Sea. Some of the studies were based on meteorological forcing derived from the RCA model. The finding of the state of the Baltic Sea, in terms of temperature, salinity and ice conditions, as very sensitive to changes in the forcing conditions was confirmed. This could mean that the response in the Baltic Sea to future climate change might be rather large. It also meant that improved regional modeling required proper interaction between ocean and atmosphere in view of the high sensitivity of the Baltic.

The study of the Thermohaline Circulation and the conditions of the Northern North Atlantic indicated that the interaction between ocean and atmosphere is important for the climate response in Scandinavia. A SWECLIM Supplementary Project (see Section 4.6) complemented this particular work.

Atmospheric circulation patterns

The response of the large-scale atmospheric circulation and the mid-latitude variability (travelling cyclones and persistent anticyclones) to an increasing greenhouse gas forcing was investigated. The focus was on investigating the response in large-scale atmospheric circulation and mid-latitude climate variability, through physical mechanisms, to changes in other parameters. So far, the changes in

mid-latitude variability over the northern North Atlantic Ocean and Northern Europe were found small compared to the changes over e.g. the northern North Pacific. The strongest response was found in the Southern Hemisphere. This work continues as a PhD-project beyond Phase 2.

Among central SWECLIM Subprogram 4 publications, during Phase 2, were Rodhe and Winsor (2002, 2003), Nilsson et al. (2003a), Chen (2000), Hellström et al. (2001) and Busuioc et al. (2001a).

4.6 The supplementary projects

As Phase 2 of the program progressed and new results were gained, the need of additional studies became evident. Several factors contributed to the feasibility of such studies. Among these were earlier decisions by the Program Board to maintain a strategic funding reserve, success in external funding applications by the program participants and some staff changes. Towards the end of Phase 2, in 2002-2003, several small but rather innovative supplementary projects were created. These were proposed by the program itself, screened by the Management Group, and decided on by the Program Board.

Rather condensed reports are made here on each Supplementary Project. More detailed descriptions are submitted to SWECLIM. These can be requested from SMHI.

4.6.1 Detection

This was a joint activity by the research department of SMHl and the University of Göteborg. The basic question asked was: "Do we see a climate change signal, in accordance with the regional climate change scenarios produced in the SWECLIM program, in the last decades regional climate?" Starting from the hypothesis that not only the global but also the regional climate since the late 1980's years affected by global warming, this period was compared with the climate during the earlier decades of the 20th Century. In particular, it was looked for whether the types of signals that emerge in the future scenarios by SWECLIM could be located in the recent regional climate.

Datasets studied included Swedish precipitation, temperature and riverflow data. It became confirmed that during the recent period, air temperature and the studied Baltic Sea climate anomalies tended to exceed the past variations to the extent of historical data being available. The magnitude of the recent regional warming was found to be in line with the trends that correspond to the future scenarios. The recent excess of precipitation was found to be rather extreme compared to the few decades before. However, there were indications of similarly large amounts of precipitation in the 19th Century. Compared to the regional precipitation trends corresponding to the future scenarios, the documented change in Sweden mean precipitation in the 1990's from the few decades before tended to be larger. This meant that the future scenarios might describe too small changes, for a given amount of global warming, or that the latest observed period was more extreme than average, in terms of regional precipitation.

An interesting finding was that in terms of riverflow, the spatial distribution of the recent changes bore likeness to the modeled future changes. Consequently a tendency to less runoff generation in the southeast was noted, but increases especially in the north.

Detection is a first step in the study of relating ongoing changes to manmade climate change. It needs to be followed by attribution, i.e. unearthing of causality in the form of physical mechanisms, for a fuller answer to emerge. This is one of the challenges for the future activities.

4.6.2 Arctic simulations at MISU

The objectives were to improve models for Arctic conditions and to build up new meteorological databases using models/for use in models. The work focused regional model performance for an Arctic domain over recent periods for which enhanced observations are available. The US Navy COAMPSTM mesoscale non-hydrostatic model was used to simulate the full so-called SHEBA-year. This effort was also part of the international ARCMIP program for intercomparison of regional models for the Arctic region. SWECLIM's RCA model also participated in ARCMIP. Among the main findings were a significant winter warm bias and a slighter summer warm bias near the surface in COAMPSTM. There was also an elevated cold bias slightly lower than 1 km in summer. Significant biases were found in the radiative fluxes. These various errors were believed to be interlinked.

The next step will be to analyze the results in some more detail before attempting to rectify the problems in the model. This post-SWECLIM work will be performed jointly within the ARCMIP project, and the results are submitted to JOSS – a joint database maintained at the University of Colorado, USA. A comparison of the larger scale dynamics is under way. In particular, the MISU will do a comparison of the boundary layer structure during autumn 2003. The work to improve model performance will likely be focused on the energy balance in the ice and the melt/freeze thermodynamics and on the cloud scheme. There are indications that the surface energy balance does not seem to account the latent heat of freezing/melting of neither sea ice nor snow in a proper way. Another likely problem stratus is an underestimation of drizzle.

4.6.3 The influence of changes in the Northern North Atlantic on the Nordic region

During Phase 1 and Phase 2 of SWECLIM, a modeling concept called PROBE was applied for the Baltic Sea, inland lake systems and the White Sea. During Phase 2, a formulation of PROBE also for the Northern North Atlantic (NNA) was done. Especially given the design of one of the global simulations used by SWECLIM in calculating the regional scenarios, it became desirable to look more into the response of the NNA to climate change as this affects the large-scale setting of regional climate. The globally simulated Atlantic sea surface temperatures (SST), used as boundary conditions in the SWECLIM regional modeling were studied, and the sensitivity of scenario responses to eventual errors in these boundary conditions, by means of additional simulations with the RCA model. Specifically, the relation

between the SST in the NNA and the temperature in Scandinavia and also the relation between the heat flux to the NNA and the SST.

Results were indicative for that if the SST could adjust freely in the regional simulations instead of being prescribed as boundary conditions, then the SST would have been considerably higher and also the modeled temperature in Scandinavia. Thus, including appropriate interaction between NNA ocean and atmosphere may considerably amplify the climate response in Scandinavia.

4.6.4 Water resources for all of Sweden: A runoff mapping system for climate change scenario simulations in Sweden

The planned Phase 2 water resources scenarios, in the context of climate change was restricted to single catchment studies. The dialogue held with users pressed the need of results for areas in between these basins as well as on upscaling the results to entire river systems. A fine resolution HBV-model for the entire Sweden, with some modifications, was set up as a supplementary project to create water resource scenarios for the entire Sweden. The model setup consisted of 118 main basins divided into about 1000 subbasins. The model was recalibrated, tested, incremented with a system for automatic simulation and applied to produce water resources scenarios based on the latest SWECLIM regional climate scenarios, akin to the single catchment studies within Subprogram 3.

Extraction and summarization of the results was developed and the results saved as daily values for every subbasin. The output variables were temperature, precipitation, snow pack and cover, soilmoisture deficit, evapotranspiration, local runoff, total runoff, total inflow and groundwater.

The common signal for all impact simulations was that runoff increased in northern Sweden and especially in the westerly mountainous parts. The strongest scenario increases were as much as up to 40% for this region. The changes in seasonal distribution of runoff described an earlier spring flood by approximately one month in basins exhibiting a spring flood in the present climate case. In some rivers, the accumulated snowpack was no longer large enough to generate a spring flood in the scenario simulations. Instead, higher runoff during the whole winter was seen. Rivers south of and including Norrtäljeån showed a considerable decrease in runoff during the summer. The simulations confirmed the same general pattern of climate change impact on the water resources as found for the SWECLIM test basins. Spatial detail was, however, much improved. The common trends from the different scenarios were distinguished as increased fall and winter runoff, increased annual runoff volumes in northern Sweden and especially in the mountains, decreased annual runoff volumes in south-eastern Sweden and decreased summer runoff in southern Sweden. It was now possible to do more in-depth analyses. There were large differences in the results depending on the choice of scenario. The largest differences seemed to have to do with the choice of global climate model rather than with the choice of the available emission scenarios.

The fact that RCA output was averaged over six regions in Sweden before transfer to the hydrological model had a clear visual effect on the results, as jumps in the generated percentage change of runoff maps. Methods to deal with this were considered by the end of the project.

4.6.5 Transport of nitrogen: Expected changes in nitrogen transport and algal growth due to climate change

SWECLIM studied the regional climate and how it might change. Impact assessment for water resources, in terms of amount and extremes was also carried out. Based on the early results, and as improved model systems became available, it was feasible to launch additional studies. One of these was on the transport of nitrogen from land to lakes and the Baltic Sea, and water quality due to eutrophication. The connection to climate was the effect of the latter to atmospheric deposition, soil leaching, and biochemical removal processes in the fresh-water system of nitrogen. This project focused on the most important processes regulating the amount of nitrogen transported from land; arable-soil leaching, water discharge and nitrogen retention. The eutrophication problem with high algae concentrations was implicitly explored for one lake with respect to a future climate, with the help of the regional climate scenarios. The aim was to quantify the expected changes of nitrogen flow and algal growth in cooperation with the Mistra-funded research program VASTRA and for its pilot catchment Rönne å in southern Sweden. For nitrogen transport from land to sea, the same concept (i.e. TRK) was applied as in recent calculations on behalf of the Swedish Environment Protection Agency for the present climate, so that the respective results could be compared.

In the study, arable-soil leaching, water discharge and nitrogen retention was modeled with a process-based approach, starting from six RCA-modeled scenarios. These all gave similar impacts on water quality, even though one of the scenarios gave a different transport pattern due to less pronounced seasonal pattern of the hydrological load. The study indicated that in a future climate we may expect increased concentrations in the arable root zone (25%) and in the river (13%), as well as an increased annual load from land to sea as a result of the more pronounced winter high flow not sufficiently compensated by the increase in retention. It was also seen that such remote areas of the catchment that presently do not contribute to the load from land to sea might start to do so in the future. Radical changes in lake biochemistry were modeled, with increased concentrations of cyanobacteria (up to 350%), phosphorus and detritus, but decreased concentrations of phytoplankton (20-50%). The results showed that it might be of major importance to consider climate change effects when establishing water management plans.

4.6.6 Evaluation of inter-annual variability and trends in air quality and deposition using results from RCA2 coupled to MATCH

Already during Phase 1 of SWECLIM, an early attempt was made to study the possible impact of regional climate change on air quality, including transport and deposition of pollutants. Given the improved model performance and the appearance of longer climate simulations during Phase 2, an activity was launched on a more indepth study. The object of the study during Phase 2 was to evaluate the combination of RCA and Multi-scale Atmospheric Transport and Chemistry model at SMHI, MATCH, for simulation of air quality and deposition for extended periods over Europe. The evaluation laid a foundation for continued work on the possible impact

of climate change on air quality and deposition. The work was planned to continue within the framework of the EU-funded project Network for the support of European Policies on Air Pollution, NEPAP, and within the ASTA program supported by Mistra.

The study involved running MATCH for several years in the period 1985 to 2001 using meteorological data produced with RCA with boundary conditions from ECMWF meteorological analyses and relevant emission data from the EMEP database. Comparisons with observations were made across Europe. It was found that regional climate model simulations were more useful than operational forecasting fields, when variations on a monthly or longer time scale were in focus. For studies of short term variability meteorological fields based on assimilation were preferred. The discrepancies in model results versus EMEP observations on sulfur and nitrogen were not that much larger compared to using data from the operational HIRLAM model. For tropospheric ozone, the statistics for hourly data and daily maximum values are significantly better simulated using operational HIRLAM data. When looking at seasonal statistics the two approaches were of comparable quality.

4.6.7 Improved modeling of Stable Boundary Layers

SWECLIM's modeling exhibited problems in describing atmospheric and surface fluxes in Stable Boundary Layers (SBLs). This was the common problem to climate and forecast models of representing the observed intermittent turbulence in such situations. The problem was especially relevant in regions of frequent SBL occurrence, such as the wintertime Scandinavia and the Arctic. Some recent progress was recently made in the context of the regional forecast model HIRLAM-X. These revisions were to be tested in RCA and new techniques for representing surface fluxes developed in collaboration with Uppsala University to be implemented and tested.

Flux-calculation based on correction functions to the neutral drag and heat/mass transfer coefficients were further developed. Data from measurements of turbulent fluxes and mean profiles in stable stratification over different sites as well as evidence from climate and weather prediction modeling suggested that other mechanisms besides the traditionally-considered surface-layer stratification and, therefore, other arguments besides the bulk Richardson number should be considered. The new technique accounted for a generally essential difference between the roughness lengths for momentum and scalars and included a new effect of the static stability in the free atmosphere on the surface layer. Recommended correction functions depended besides bulk Richardson number, on one more stability parameter, involving the Brunt-Väisälä frequency in the free atmosphere, and on the roughness lengths. These correction functions were compared with two sets of data representing essentially different measurement sites located at high latitudes: Halley Bay in Antarctica and Sodankylä in Northern Finland. As a test for evaluation, the new flux-calculation technique was implemented in a 1-D version of HIRLAM and used to simulate the data and Large Eddy Simulation -results of the Beaufort Sea Arctic Stratus Experiment (BASE).

The results showed a significant improvement of simulated potential temperature in the cases of moderate and very stable stratification. There was improvement also for the vertical wind profile. The new technique was further implemented in a 3-D version of HIRLAM and a two-week experiment carried out. The verification scores obtained with the new parameterization demonstrated a significant improvement in comparison with the current parameterisation. The new parameterization was thereafter implemented as an option in RCA regional climate model system. Additional testing and evaluation will be carried out in the future work.

4.6.8 Statistical downscaling of daily climate information in Sweden

Extreme events was another aspect that gained increasing attention towards the end of the program. Many users wished more knowledge on extremes, so the problem of finite-resolution numerical models tending to smear out extremes remained to be tackled. Even as dealing with this was improved within the analysis of model simulations, an additional statistical downscaling method was attempted, as a supplementary project. A stochastic model was used to model daily variables in a statistical sense, related to statistics (e.g. frequency) of large-scale atmospheric circulation patterns. Such a stochastic formulation was felt to offer advantages in addressing uncertainties in future projections.

The data studied covered the period of 1961-2000 with daily precipitation totals for 366 stations. Considering the density of the station network the spatial scale of the 99th percentile was determined to be about 60-100 km. An index more related to specific events was the average annual daily maximum amount, with a corresponding spatial scale of 40-70 km. For regionalization of extreme precipitation, Maximum-Likelihood Factor Analysis was applied to data from 82 stations for days classified as extreme precipitation events. An extreme event was defined as a day with 40 mm or more of precipitation. A great majority of the heavy precipitation events occurred in summer. Based on weather type classification, the cyclonic weather type was connected with 63% of the extreme precipitation events (>50 mm) and the frontal type with 32% of the events. Measures of extreme precipitation were calculated for each station. They indicated higher extremes especially along the coast in middle Sweden as well as on the western side of the Swedish part of the Scandinavian mountain range.

The number and distribution of precipitation events was modeled based on a two-state Markov chain, involving two conditional probabilities: PWD, the probability of a wet day (W) following a dry day (D), and PDW, the probability of a dry day following a wet day. Monthly values of these probabilities were calculated and used to provide a transition from one season to another. Random sampling of the monthly distributions determined the occurrence of a wet day or a dry day. For each of the stations, a gamma distribution was fitted for the wet days. The extreme values based on the 90th, 95th and 99th percentiles were calculated. Using the estimated parameters of the gamma distribution and the transfer probabilities, 1000-year long simulations were made for the 366 stations.

The gamma distribution fitted to the daily precipitation data was found to be working fine. With the parameters estimated from the observed data, the daily precipitation statistics were reproduced rather well. The next step is to link the paratermers of the stochastic model to large-scale climate variables.

Another part of the study considered the concept of probability distribution, trying to see whether such a distribution of a climatic variable could be described as weighted sums of normal distributions resulting from different physical mechanisms/processes.

The hypothesis was that a probability distribution of a climatic variable was perhaps better described as a weighted sum of a number of normal distributions, which result from different physical mechanisms/processes, than as a single distribution. Indeed, many climatic elements do not comply with the normal distribution. A method to identify and characterize the multi modes was developed and described, and applied for daily surface air pressure and temperature in Stockholm, as a test example. The daily temperature in Stockholm was found to follow a two-mode model. The two modes could be interpreted as a winter and a summer mode, indicating that the transitional seasons were of limited importance.

The new model objectively characterized the temperature variation in more detail than the single distribution method, and opened for a new view on describing climate change, and quite possibly a new way to provide insight into the processes behind changes. For example, comparing the last 30 years (1971-2000) and the first 30 years (1761-1790) of Stockholm daily temperature data, the most interesting change is the increase in the weight of the summer mode. This means that the summer season has become longer and winter season shorter.

4.6.9 Estimate effects on nutrient leakage from alterations in Swedish regional agricultural production caused by climate change

Whereas the Supplementary Project on Transport of nitrogen addressed what happens to nitrogen after it enters the soil and waterways from its source, it did not address the sources themselves. This was studied as an additional project in cooperation with Linköping University, in terms of possible changes of nutrient leakage from agricultural land, looking into changes driven by climate change, but also to the effect of change of crops with corresponding cultivation practices. The aim of this study was to explore possible consequences of climate change on the environmental impacts from agricultural production in Sweden and highlight how this may influence implementation of the European Union Water Framework Directive.

Three main Swedish agricultural production areas were selected, and their future climate estimated based on SWECLIM scenarios. The indicated temperature and precipitation patterns were compared with present Europe. Data on environmental effects of different crops were obtained with a focus on nitrogen leakage. Based on a general strive for increased self-sufficiency for farmers and changed climatic conditions maize cultivation was selected for the study and compared with present day lea production. For the final discussion the results were related to the proposed structure for implementation of the water directive.

Among the main findings were that the simulated climate in the three selected Swedish agricultural areas resembled that of present day western France and that the simulated climate renders forage maize production possible in Sweden up to the

61°N latitude. An exchange of cultivation practices in fodder production from ley to maize was suggested to fivefold nitrogen leaching.

The results highlighted the possible effect a climate change will have on alterations in agricultural production and consequently on nutrient leaching patterns. The study was also an example of vulnerability analyses of potential impacts of future regional climate change on nutrient flows from agricultural land. Climate, of course, illustrated one of several factors subject to change that need to be considered.

4.7 Networks and research cooperation

Phase 2 of SWECLIM was characterized by its participants' increasing participation in research networks, as well as other types of research cooperation. The Rossby Centre joined a number of EU-funded research projects (cf. Section 7). These covered such aspects as European climate modeling infrastructure, high resolution regional climate modeling for Europe, climate modeling for the Arctic, impact of climate change on lakes and the parameterization of clouds and radiation in climate models. Nordic networks, both on the Arctic and on the interlinkage of climate and renewable energy production were also set up. Towards the end of Phase 2, yet new efforts were underway for projects, for example under the VI Framework Program of EU.

The development of the SWECLIM modeling system and the increasing availability of regional climate simulations led to data requests from different groups, both in Sweden, and in other countries. For SWECLIM this meant additional evaluation of the modeled results, as well as valuable further application of them. For Mistra and the society, this meant additional concretization of the implications of climate change in our region.

Contributions were made to the work and reporting by IPCC (e.g. Forty... 2001, Fifty-six... 2001) and to the national reporting to UNFCCC (cf. Chapter 5 of Ds 2001:71) as well as to the Arctic Climate Impact Assessment, ACIA (still ongoing in December 2003). Contributions were also made to international modeling intercomparison programs and projects CMIP2 (Coupled Modeling Intercomparison Program, Phase 2), PIRCS (Project to intercompare regional climate simulations), PILPS (Project for intercomparison of landsurface parameterization schemes) and ARC-MIP (the Arctic regional climate model intercomparison project). The international BALTEX and HIRLAM projects were additional cooperation fora.

Finally, SWECLIM had bilateral contacts and some activities with a number of other Mistra-programs. These included Mat-21, MARE, VASTRA, LUSTRA, SUFOR, Fjäll-Mistra and ASTA. In some cases joint workshops were managed, in other cases SWECLIM supplied commentary and data. In the case of VASTRA, a supplementary project was set up and executed (cf. Section 4.6.5). Another such a link was with ASTA (cf. Section 4.6.6).

5 Reflections on the program period

5.1 Program management

The daily management of SWECLIM, Phase 2, was at the hands of the Program Director – Markku Rummukainen – and the four Subprogram Leaders – Michael Tjernström, Lars Moen, Sten Bergström and Johan Rodhe. These five experts also formed the Management Group, supplemented later by the Program Communications Officer at that time, Gunn Persson. Lars Moen changed position in late 2002 and his duties within SWECLIM were taken over by Markku Rummukainen. The Management Group met at semi-regular intervals to discuss the progress within each Subprogram, coordination across the Subprograms, implementation of decisions by the Program Board (see below) and planning common activities, such as workshops, other meetings and the central program publications.

To the daily management of course also contributed the representatives of the Program Partners, i.e. the Rossby Centre and the Research Department of SMHI, the meteorology and oceanography groups and Stockholm University and the oceanography and natural geography groups at Göteborg University.

The Program Board consisted of representatives of major stakeholders: Hans Sandebring from SMHI, Leif Bernergård from the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Jan Fryk from Skogforsk (the Forestry Research Institute of Sweden, representing in a sense the forestry sector), Gunnar Hovsenius from Elforsk AB (an R&D broker for the Swedish electric utilities and power companies) and Erland Källén from Stockholm University (representing academia). A representative from Mistra was also present at the Board meetings. In the beginning of Phase, Mistra's representative was Kerstin Lövgren. Britt Maric Bertilsson later replaced her.

The Program Board met a few times a year, to allow the Board to monitor the progress of the overall program, decide on reporting, supplementary activities and dynamically steer the activities in concert with the developments in the Swedish society, international negotiations etc.

5.2 The functionality of the SWECLIM network

The SWECLIM network was characterized by a central resource – the Rossby Centre at SMHI – that was considerably larger than the other participating groups in terms of funding and personnel. This was a necessary arrangement, as the creation of a national regional climate modeling activity required broad expertise to cover the meteorological, oceanographic, hydrological and supercomputing aspects. The smallish share typical to some of the other participants meant that their SWECLIM commitment was very marginal compared to their other activities. This, of course was not the easiest state of affairs. Among other things it led to the smaller groups being vulnerable to staff changes. In practice, however, also considerable synergies were created. One example was that with small but targeted funding SWECLIM could introduce aspects of climate research and climate modeling to the curriculum of a number of PhD students.

It was also apparent, that the R&D cultures at SMHI and at the participating academia were different. SMHI seemed more used to the practices called for by Mistra.

The internal program interaction was supported by the composition of the Management group, which spanned the various scientific subject fields included in the program as well as the participating groups. The annual All Staff meetings and the SWECLIM Newsletter provided additional means of interaction within the program. Close interaction among participating scientists and students was overall observed to emerge rather automatically, whenever a need arouse.

5.3 Interaction with Mistra

As Mistra was present in the Board Meetings, there was a constant interaction between the program and Mistra. In addition, the Program Director was, as needed, in contact with the designated Mistra contact point, to discuss various practical matters, prepare for decisions etc. It was a bit unfortunate, that the designated contact point at Mistra changed during the course of the program. Another matter that created some confusion was the feeling of "directives in transition". The guidelines set down by Mistra changed from time to time, for example those on the structure of the program plan. A talking example is a point made by Mistra on the lack of a special Communication Plan, even though no such plan had been requested. Also the requirements in conjunction of the end of the program were rather broadly formulated. This, on the other hand, was also expressive of the much appreciated flexibility on Mistra's behalf to listen to the suggestions by SWECLIM on what which specific events and reporting were the most appropriate ones, considering the program progress and its dialogue with stakeholders.

The annual dialogue between the Chairman of the Program Board, the Program Director and Mistra was useful, as were the annual meetings with the other Mistra programs.

5.4 Communication and publishing

SWECLIM had a very successful communication activity. SWECLIM also had a rather impressive publication activity. This was a nice example of the fact that investing in scientific publishing does not exclude popular communication.

It was often the case, that one appearance in front of some audience led to additional requests. At times, this put on quite a pressure for the in practice limited resources. This was dealt with on a case-by-case basis. Overall, the interest from the society was very lively and spanned most areas and types of users. As copies of presentation material was often requested from SWECLIM, it was likely that the total volume of communication on climate change was larger than what could feasibly be documented.

It was observed, however, that during the program period itself, some of the program scientists were hesitant on the advisability and even the need of interaction with the broader public and the media. Also how questions from the public were met by the

program spokespeople was discussed among the program participants, e.g. in conjunction of the All Staff meetings.

The approach taken by the program spokespersons was to present the subject in an objective manner, recognize that uncertainties remain, but that nevertheless a lot of knowledge is available. It was felt proper to inform on both Swedish and the international activities, and to encourage discussion among stakeholders for them to realize in what ways and how much climate change was an issue to them.

5.5 Funding

At the transition from Phase 1 to Phase 2 of SWECLIM, the annual volume of activities had stabilized to around 16 MSEK. The decision taken by the Mistra Board on Phase 2 funding meant that additional sources needed to be located, or the planned program activities to be reduced. SMHI took shortly thereafter a decision to cover an additional 3 MSEK of the overall Phase 2 costs. Together with a number of successful applications by the Rossby Centre to especially EU within the Framework Program V, this complemented the Mistra funding. The pursuit of external research funding also meant a certain inconvenience. Given that a typical EU-funded research program at that time was three years long, and that in the case of SMHI only partial funding could be acquired from EU, own financial commitments were created that were to last beyond the end of SWECLIM. This, however, was considered still in agreement with the long-term aims of climate modeling in Sweden, and within the strategic goals of the program participants.

All in all, the total amount of funds available during Phase 2 amounted to about 53-54 MSEK. Of these, about 70% were from Mistra (including some funds left from Phase 1), 14% were earmarked funding from SMHI, 7% from EU and the rest from various sources.

Towards the end of SWECLIM, additional externally funded research projects came about. In combination of staffing matters at especially Stockholm University, somewhat less of the earlier committed funds from Mistra were needed. This allowed SWECLIM to supplement the core program activities with value-adding projects (see Section 4.6).

5.6 Summary of practical lessons learnt

The establishment of a central resource, with a clear commitment to SWECLIM, was essential for a successful program. The involvement of academia was also most valuable for the overall program. In addition to the specific expertise from the involved groups, it made it more meaningful to pursue and contribute to research education in Sweden. On the other hand, small contributions were somewhat difficult to manage both on the participant level, and on the overall program level.

The management model worked well. The interaction between the day-to-day activities, the Program Director, the Management Group and the Program Board was both smooth, and efficient. The location of the operational management and the economic/administrative support at the same institute, SMHI, also contributed to efficient operations.

The program communication activity was very lively during Phase 2. This was not foreseen. Perhaps, in some sense, we ended up doing too much, as very few requests were turned down. Some activities, even though they fit within the budget, were certainly suboptimal. In some cases, SWECLIM could have been more aggressive in driving debate via media. Generally, however, we made the judgement that this would have undermined our role as an objective R&D broker on matter climate, climate modeling and climate change. Nevertheless, we recognize the value of interaction with the general public and media, in addition to the more established scientific and stakeholder dialogues. Our advice to new programs is to have a solid communication activity from the very beginning, management-level recognition of the relevance of communication and information and dedicated resources for the preparation and maintenance of material. Of course, it helps if one is successful in recruiting an able Communications Officer. Our belief is that such a person should have researcher training, and experience, in addition to communication skills. A further confirmation of the successful outreach of SWECLIM was the fact that the Programme Director was in 2003 ranked as No. 35 by Ny Teknik on a list of 50 influential Swedish scientists (personerna med störst inflytande över svensk teknisk och naturvetenskaplig forskning, www.nyteknik.se/pub/ipsart.asp?art_id=31189, read 2003-11-29).

The program framework set up by Mistra matured during the program period. In general, the additional requirements had a positive impact on the program management, even though living with guidelines-in-transition of course also meant additional work. We hope that our feedback to Mistra can be useful for the existing and future programs.

6 Outlook

One of the deliverables for SWECLIM was to report back to Mistra on the legacy of the program results and activities. As mentioned earlier, due to the fact that the program participants engaged in parallel external research projects, some of the active work by the end of Phase was continued within them. A continuous involvement in research networks, as well as communication, is pursued also beyond SWECLIM.

The major continuation of SWECLIM, however, involved securing a base for climate modeling in Sweden. The central resource of SWECLIM, the Rossby Centre at SMHI, was granted a temporary base funding of 9 MSEK/year from July 2003 to December 2005, with contributions from the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA), SMHI, Mistra and the Swedish Energy Agency. This base funding covers about 65% of the current R&D/funding volume at the Rossby Centre. The remaining is covered by e.g. participation in EU-projects, and other additional activities. The Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning, Formas, opened a 4-year research position at a Swedish university with the stated intention of this activity to cooperate with the Rossby Centre. The national agencies mentioned above form a Reference Group for the Rossby Centre in 2003-2005.

The matter of a permanent activity at the Rossby Centre is recommended to the government in the two recent reportings on national coordination of Swedish climate

research, by a task force led by Formas. SMHI intends to continue this dialogue with the Ministry of the Environment, aiming for a permanent solution as the temporary base funding solution expires. We hope for a positive decision. Until then, the activities and investments will be managed assuming a long-term continuation of climate modeling in Sweden.

In this context, we also mention that SMHI, Stockholm University and the National Supercomputing Centre at Linköping University have applied for a dedicated supercomputing resource for climate modeling. This, again, would add on the base of long-term continuation of the activities started as SWECLIM.

The Rossby Centre aims to support and interact with academia on R&D on climate modeling and climate change. So far, a few joint applications have been prepared and sent to funding agencies.

We foresee a continuous societal need for expert advice on climate modeling and climate change, a Swedish research contribution of international class, and an R&D base for Swedish contributions to such international organizations as IPCC and UNFCCC. There are a number of research issues of particular interest for Sweden, including the Baltic Sea, the Arctic, Nordic mountain ecosystems, the marginal sea ice zone, the infrastructure, ecosystem and climate considerations of seasonal snow climate etc., that remain to be addressed. The activities built up during SWECLIM are a good base for future endeavors.

One missing activity that should be addressed in the future is to complement regional modeling by global modeling. This would offer operational, scientific and networking benefits. We also feel for exploring a more complete representation of the climate system, e.g. by complementing the SWECLIM modeling system with modules for ecosystems and vegetation. Regionally-varying forcing agents is another topic worth plunging into to, as is the interaction between natural sciences, technology research and social sciences.

7 Acknowledgements

SWECLIM was funded mainly by Mistra and by SMHI. Research supported by a number of other bodies also contributed to meeting the program aims: the European Union (Framework 5 research project contracts: EVK2-CT2001-00132 [PRUDENCE)], EVR1-CT2001-40012 [PRISM], EVK2-CT-1999-00007 [CLIWANET], EVK2-CT-1999-00051 [EUROCS], EVK1-2001-00297 [CLIME], EVK2-CT-2002-00164 [GLIMPSE], EVG1-CT-2001-00050 [ELDAS], C/2001/2023 [SEAREG]), the Nordic Energy Research and the Nordic Arctic Research Programme of the Nordic Council of Ministers Nordic Council of Ministers (within the CWE and RESMONA projects, respectively), Elforsk AB, Svenska Kraftnät and the Swedish Rescue Services Agency (Statens Räddningsverk), as well as the Swedish National Space Board (Rymdstyrelsen).

The regional climate model simulations were performed on supercomputing platforms at the Swedish National Supercomputing Centre (NSC) in Linköping. The NSC staff is thanked for their expert advice and support.

The international HIRLAM project is thanked for the provision of the HIRLAM model, on which RCA builds on. We hope that our contributions match the help in kind. The international OCCAM project is thanked for the base on which RCO is

built on. CERFACS in France is thanked for their excellent coupling tool OASIS that facilitated the development of RCAO.

The provision of global simulations by the Hadley Centre of the Meteorological Office in the U.K., the Max-Planck-Institute for Meteorology (MPIfM) and the German Climate Computing Centre, DKRZ, both in Hamburg, Germany, and the Danish Climate Centre at the Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI) in Copenhagen, Denmark, is greatly acknowledged. For help with global model data we wish to thank especially Drs. Richard Jones, David Hassell, both at the Hadley Centre, Dr Erich Roeckner at MPIfM, and Drs. Jens Hesselbjerg Christensen and Ole Bøssing Christensen, both at DMI.

8 Lists of publications

Please note that those publications that are not published in international or national series are available upon request from the Rossby Centre, SMHI, SE-601 76 Norrköping, Sweden.

Please note also that articles in addition to those that are listed in the following subsections are in preparation. These works include 17 articles on the very recent work during Phase 2 of SWECLIM, submitted to the special SWECLIM-issue of Ambio, to appear in mid-2004. It is likely that 10-12 of the articles submitted to this special SWECLIM-issue will be accepted.

8.1 Peer-reviewed scientific articles

Achberger, C., Linderson, M.-L. and Chen, D. 2003. Performance of the Rossby Centre regional Atmospheric model in Southern Sweden: comparison of simulated and observed. *Theoretical and applied Climatology*, in press.

Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Gardelin, M., Lindström, G., Pettersson, A. and Rummukainen, M. 2001a. Climate change impacts on runoff in Sweden - assessments by global climate models, dynamical downscaling and hydrological modelling. *Clim. Res.* 16, 101-112.

Blenckner, T., Omstedt, A. and Rummukainen, M. 2002. A Swedish case study of contemporary and possible future consequences of climate change on lake function, *Aquatic Sciences 64*, 171-184.

Bringfelt, B., Heikinhemo, M., Gustafsson, N., Perov, V. and Lindroth, A. 1999. A new land surface treatment for HIRLAM – Comparison with NOPEX measurements. NOPEX Special Issue of *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 98-99*, 239-256.

Busuioc, A., Chen, D. and Hellström, C. 2001a. Performance of statistical downscaling models in GCM validation and regional climate change estimates: application for Swedish precipitation. *Int. J. Climatol.* 21, 557-578.

Busuioc, A., Chen, D. and Hellström, C. 2001b. Temporal and spatial variability of precipitation in Sweden and its link with the large-scale atmospheric circulation. *Tellus 53A*, 348-367.

Chen, D. 2000a. A monthly circulation climatology for Sweden and its application to a winter temperature case study. *Int. J. Clim.* 20, 1067-1076.

Chen, D. and Chen, Y. 2003. Association between winter temperature in China and upper air circulation over East Asia revealed by Canonical Correlation Analysis. *Global and Planetary Change* 37, 315-325.

Chen, D. and Hellström, C. 1999. The influence of the North Atlantic Oscillation on the regional temperature variability in Sweden: spatial and temporal variations, *Tellus 51A*, 505-516.

Chen, D. and Li, X. 2003. Scale dependent relationship between maximum ice extent in the Baltic Sea and atmospheric circulation, *Global and Planetary Change*, in press.

Christensen, J.-H., Räisänen, J., Iversen, T., Bjørge, D., Christensen, O. B. and Rummukainen, M. 2001. A synthesis of regional climate change simulations. A Scandinavian perspective. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 28, 1003-1006.

Döscher, R., Willén, U., Jones, C., Rutgersson, A., Meier, H. E. M., Hansson, U. and Graham, L. P. 2002. The development of the coupled regional ocean-atmosphere model RCAO. *Boreal Environment Research* 7, 183-192.

Fristedt, T., Sigray, P., Lundberg, P. and Crona, L. 2002. Salt-wedge observations in Öresund by direct measurement of the motionally induced voltage. *Cont. Shelf. Res.* 22, 2513-2524.

Gardelin, M., Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Graham, L. P. and Lindström, G. 2002a. Climate change and water resources in Sweden - analysis of uncertainties. In: M. Beniston (ed), *Climatic Change: Implications for the Hydrological Cycle and for Water Management*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, the Netherlands, 189-207.

Graham, L. P. 1999. Modeling runoff to the Baltic Sea. Ambio 28, 328-334.

Graham, L. P. and Bergström, S. 2000. Land surface modeling in hydrology and meteorology – lessons learned from the Baltic Basin. *Hydrology & Earth System Sciences 4*, 13-22.

Graham, L. P. and Bergström, S. 2001. Water balance modelling in the Baltic Sea drainage basin – analysis of meteorological and hydrological approaches. *Meteorol. Atmos. Phys.* 77, 45-60.

Graham, L. P. and Jacob, D. 2000. Using large-scale hydrologic modeling to review runoff generation processes in GCM climate models. *Meteorol. Z. 9*, 49-57.

Graham, L. P., Rummukainen, M., Gardelin, M. and Bergström, S. 2001a. Modelling Climate Change Impacts on Water Resources in the Swedish Regional Climate Modelling Programme. In: M. Brunet and D. López (Editors), *Detecting and Modelling Regional Climate Change and Associated Impacts*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg/New York, 567-580.

Gregory, P. J., Ingram, J. S. I., Andersson, R., Betts, R. A., Brovkin, V., Chase, T. N., Grace, P. R., Gray, A. J., Hamilton, N., Hardy, T. B., Howden, S. M., Jenkins, A., Meybeck, M., Olsson, M., Ortiz-Monasterio, I., Palm, C. A., Payn, T. W., Rummukainen, M., Schulze, R. E., Thiem, M., Valentin, C. and Wilkinson, M. J. 2002. Environmental consequences of alternative practices for intensifying crop production, *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 88, 279-290.

Haapala, J., Meier, H. E. M. and Rinne, J. 2001. Numerical investigations of future ice conditions in the Baltic Sea. *Ambio* 30:4-5, 237-244.

Hellström, C. and Chen, D. 2003. Statistical downscaling based on dynamically downscaled predictors: Application to monthly precipitation in Sweden. *Advances in Atmospheric Sciences*, accepted.

Hellström, C., Chen, D., Achberger, C. and Räisänen, J. 2001. A comparison of climate change scenarios for Sweden based on statistical and dynamical downscaling of monthly precipitation. *Clim. Res.* 19, 45-55.

van den Hurk, B. J. J. M., Graham, L. P. and Viterbo, P. 2002. Comparison of land surface hydrology in regional climate simulation of the Baltic Sea catchment. *J. Hydrol.* 255, 169-193.

Jacob, D., Van den Hurk, B. J. J. M., Andræ, U., Elgered, G., Fortelius, C., Graham, L. P., Jackson, S. D., Karstens, U., Köpken, C., Lindau, R., Podzun, R., Rockel, B., Rubel, F., Sass, B. H., Smith, R. N. B. and Yang, X. 2001. A comprehensive model inter-comparison study investigating the water budget during the BALTEX-PIDCAP period. *Meteorol. Atmos. Phys.* 77, 19-43.

Karlén, W., Källén, E., Rodhe, H. and Backman, J. 1999. Man-made versus natural climate change. *Ambio 28*, 376-377.

Kauker, F. and Meier, H. E. M. 2003. Modeling decadal variability of the Baltic Sea: 1. Reconstructing atmospheric surface data for the period 1902-1998. *J. Geophys. Res.* 108:C8, 3267, doi:10.1029/2003JC001797.

Laanearu, J. and Lundberg, P. 2000. Topographic control of rotating deep-water flow through the combination of a sill and a horizontal constriction. *J. Geophys. Res. - Oceans* 105, 28,663-28,670.

Laanearu, J. and Lundberg, P. 2003. Topographically constrained deep-water flows in the Baltic Sea. *J. Sea Res.* 49, 257-265.

Laanearu, J., Lips, U. and Lundberg, P. 2000. On the application of hydraulic theory to the deep-water flow through the Irbe Strait. *J. Mar. Sys.* 25, 323-332.

Linderson, M.-L., Achberger, C. and Chen, D. 2003. Statistical downscaling and scenario construction of precipitation in Scania, Southern Sweden. *Nordic Hydrology*, in press.

Lindström, G. and Bergström, S. 2004. Runoff trends in Sweden 1807-2002. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, in press.

Meier, H. E. M. 2001a. On the parameterization of mixing in 3D Baltic Sea models. *J. Geophys. Res.* 106:C12, 30,997-31,016.

Meier, H. E. M. 2002a. Regional ocean climate simulations with a 3D ice-ocean model for the Baltic Sea. Part 1: model experiments and results for temperature and salinity. *Clim. Dyn. 19*, 237-253.

Meier, H. E. M. 2002b. Regional ocean climate simulations with a 3D ice-ocean model for the Baltic Sea. Part 2: results for sea ice. *Clim. Dyn. 19*, 255-266.

Meier, H. E. M. and Döscher, R. 2002. Simulated water and heat cycles of the Baltic Sea using a 3D coupled atmosphere-ice-ocean model. *Boreal Env. Res.* 7, 327-334.

Meier, H. E. M. and Faxén, T. 2002. Performance analysis of a multiprocessor coupled ice-ocean model for the Baltic Sea. *J. Atmos. Oceanic Technol.* 19, 114-124.

Meier, H. E. M. and Kauker, F. 2003a. Sensitivity of the Baltic Sea salinity to the freshwater supply. *Clim. Res.* 24, 231-242.

Meier, H. E. M. and Kauker, F. 2003b. Modeling decadal variability of the Baltic Sea: 2: The role of freshwater inflow and large-scale atmospheric circulation for salinity. *J. Geophys. Res.*, 108:C11, 3368, doi:10.1029/2003JC001799.

Meier, H. E. M., Döscher, R. and Faxén, T. 2003. A multiprocessor coupled iceocean model for the Baltic Sea: Application to salt inflow. *J. Geophys. Res.* 108:C8, 3273, doi:10.1029/2000JC000521.

Nilsson, J., Broström, G. and Walin, G. 2003a. The thermohaline circulation and vertical mixing: does weaker density stratification give stronger overturning? *J. Phys. Oceanogr.*, accepted.

Nycander, J. and Döös, K. 2003. Open boundary conditions for barotropic waves. *J. Geophys. Res.* 108:C5, 3168, doi:10.1029/2002JC001529.

Nilsson, J., Broström, G. and Walin, G. 2003b. On the spontaneous transition to asymmetric thermohaline circulation. *Tellus*, accepted.

Omstedt, A. and Chen, D. 2001. Influence of atmospheric circulation on the maximum ice extent in the Baltic Sea. *J. Geophys. Res.* 106, 4493-4500.

Omstedt, A., Gustafsson, B., Rodhe, J. and Walin, G. 2000. Use of the Baltic Sea modelling to investigate the water and heat cycles in GCM and regional models. *Clim. Res.* 15, 95-108.

Omstedt, A., Pettersen, C., Rodhe, J. and Winsor, P. 2003. Baltic Sea climate: analysis of 200 years of data with a focus on air temperature, sea-level variation, ice extent, and large-scale atmospheric circulation. *Clim. Res.*, in press.

Palmer, T. N. and Räisänen, J. 2002. Quantifying the risk of extreme seasonal precipitation events in a changing climate. *Nature 415*, 512-514.

Raschke, E., Meywerk, J., Warrach, K., Andrae, U., Bergström, S., Beyrich, F., Bosveld, F., Bumke, K., Fortelius, C., Graham, L.P., Gryning, S.-E., Halldin, S., Hasse, L., Heikinheimo, M., Isemer, H.-J., Jacob, D., Jauja, I., Karlsson, K.-G., Keevallik, S., Koistinen, J., van Lammeren, A., Lass, U., Launiainen, J., Lehmann, A., Liljebladh, B., Lobmeyr, M., Matthäus, W., Mengelkamp, T., Michelson, D.B., Napiórkowski, J., Omstedt, A., Piechura, J., Rockel, B., Rubel, F., Ruprecht, E., Smedman, A.-S. and Stigebrandt, A. 2001. BALTEX (Baltic Sea Experiment): a European contribution to investigate the energy and water cycle over a large drainage basin. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 82, 2389-2413.

Rodhe, J. and Winsor, P. 2002. On the influence of freshwater supply on the Baltic Sea mean salinity. *Tellus 54A*, 175-186.

Rodhe, J. and Winsor, P. 2003. Corrigendum. On the influence of freshwater supply on the Baltic Sea mean salinity. *Tellus 55A*, 455-456.

Rummukainen, M. 2001a. Klimatförändring och Norden: regionala konkretiseringsexempel på 50-100 års sikt. *Terra*, 113:3, 153-160.

Rummukainen, M., Räisänen, J., Bringfelt, B., Ullerstig, A., Omstedt, A., Willén, U., Hansson, U. and Jones, C. 2001. A regional climate model for northern Europe: model description and results from the downscaling of two GCM control simulations. *Clim. Dyn. 17*, 339-359.

Rummukainen, M., Räisänen, J., Bjørge, D., Christensen, J. H., Christensen, O. B., Iversen, T., Jylhä, K., Ólafsson, H. and Tuomenvirta, H. 2003. Regional climate scenarios for use in Nordic water resources studies. *Nordic Hydrology*, 34:5, in press.

Rutgersson, A., Bumke, K., Clemens, M., Foltescu, V., Lindau, R., Michelson, D. and Omstedt, A. 2001. Precipitation Estimates over the Baltic Sea: Present State of the Art. *Nordic Hydrol.* 32, 285-314.

Rutgersson, A., Omstedt, A. and Räisänen, J. 2002. Net precipitation over the Baltic Sea during present and future climate conditions. *Clim. Res.* 22, 27-39.

Räisänen, J. 1999a. Internal variability as a cause of qualitative intermodel disagreement on antropogenic climate changes. *Theor. Appl. Clim.* 64, 1-13.

Räisänen, J. 2001a. CO₂-induced climate change in CMIP2 experiments: Quantification of agreement and role of internal variability. *J. Climate 14*, 2088-2104.

Räisänen, J. 2001b. Hiilidioksidin lisääntymisen vaikutus Pohjois-Euroopan ilmastoon globaaleissa ilmastomalleissa (The impact of increasing carbon dioxide on the climate of northern Europe in global climate models; in Finnish with English abstract and figure and table captions). *Terra 113:3*, 139-151.

Räisänen, J. 2002a. CO₂-induced changes in interannual temperature and precipitation variability in 19 CMIP2 experiments. *J. Climate 15*, 2395-2411.

Räisänen, J. 2003. CO₂-induced changes in atmospheric angular momentum in CMIP2 experiments. *J. Climate 16*, 132-143.

Räisänen, J. and Alexandersson, H. 2003. A probabilistic view on recent and near future climate change in Sweden. *Tellus 55A*, 113-125.

Räisänen, J. and Joelsson, R. 2001a. Changes in average and extreme precipitation in two regional climate model experiments. *Tellus 53A*, 547-566.

Räisänen, J. and Palmer, T. N. 2001a. A probability and decision-model analysis of a multimodel ensemble of climate change simulations. *J. Climate* 14, 3212-3226.

Räisänen, J., Rummukainen, M. and Ullerstig, A. 2001. Downscaling of greenhouse gas induced climate change in two GCMs with the Rossby Centre regional climate model for northern Europe. *Tellus 53A*, 168-191.

Räisänen, J., Hansson, U., Ullerstig, A., Döscher, R., Graham, L. P., Jones, C., Meier, H. E. M., Samuelsson, P. and Willén, U. 2003a. European climate in the late 21st century: regional simulations with two driving global models and two forcing scenarios. *Clim. Dyn.*, in press.

Samuelsson, P. and Tjernström, M. 2001. Mesoscale flow modification induced by land-lake surface temperature and roughness differences. *J. Geophys. Res.* 106:D12, 12,419-12,435.

Samuelsson, P., Bringfelt, B. and Graham, L. P. 2003. The role of aerodynamic roughness for runoff and snow evaporation in land-surface schemes – comparison of uncoupled and coupled simulations. *Global and Planetary Change 38*, 93-99.

de Vries, P. and Döös, K. 2001. Calculating Lagrangian trajectories using time-dependent velocity fields. *J. Atmos. Oceanic Technology* 18, 1092-1101.

Winsor, P. 2001. Arctic sea ice thickness remained constant during the 1990s. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 28, 1039-1041.

Winsor, P., Rodhe, J. and Omstedt, A. 2001. Baltic Sea ocean climate: an analysis of 100 yr of hydrographic data with focus on the freshwater budget. *Clim. Res.* 18, 5-15.

Winsor, P., Rodhe, J. and Omstedt, A. 2004. Erratum. Baltic Sea ocean climate: an analysis of 100 yr of hydrographic data with focus on the freshwater budget. *Clim. Res.*, accepted.

Xu, C. 1999. From GCMs to river flow: a review of downscaling methods and hydrological modelling approaches. *Progr. Phys. Geogr.* 23, 229-249.

Zurovac-Jevtic, D. 1999. Development of a cirrus parameterization scheme: Performance studies in HIRLAM. *Mon. Wea Rev. 127*, 470-485.

8.2 Reports and contributions to reports

Bringfelt, B. 1998. An evapotranspiration model using SYNOP weather observations in the Penman-Monteith equation. *Reports Hydrology No. 77*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 25 pp.

Bringfelt, B., Räisänen, J., Gollvik, S., Lindström, G., Graham, L. P. and Ullerstig, A. 2001. The land surface treatment for the Rossby Centre Regional Atmospheric Climate Model – version 2 (RCA2). *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 98*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 40 pp.

Busuioc, A., Chen, D. and Hellström, C. 1999. Temporal and spatial variability of precipitation in Sweden over the 1890-1990 interval. *Report C19*, Earth Sciences Centre, Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden, 46 pp.

Chen, D., Hellström, C. and Chen, Y. 1999. Preliminary analysis and statistical downscaling of monthly temperature in Sweden. *Report C16*, Earth Sciences Centre, Göteborg University, Göteborg, Sweden, 76 pp.

Faxén, T. 1999. Tuning and performance analysis of the Rossby Centre Ocean model. *Technical Report*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 22 pp.

Fifty-six other contributors and Chen, D. and Rummukainen, M. 2001. Regional climate information – Evaluation and projections. *Climate Change 2001: the Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.* [Houghton, J. T., Y. Ding, D. J. Griggs, M. Noguer, P. J. van der Linden, X. Dai, K. Maskell and C. A. Johnson (Eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 583-638.

Forty other contributors and Räisänen, J. 2001. Projections of future climate change. Climate Change 2001: the Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. [Houghton, J. T., Y. Ding, D. J. Griggs, M. Noguer, P. J. van der Linden, X. Dai, K. Maskell and C. A. Johnson (Eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 525-582.

Gardelin, M., Andréasson, J., Carlsson, B., Lindström, G. and Bergström, S. 2002b. Modellering av effekter av klimatförändringar på tillrinningen till vattenkraftsystemet. *Elforsk rapport 02:27*, 21 s.

Johansson, C., Smedman, A.-S. and Högström, U. 1998. Critical test of the validity of Monin-Obukhov similarity during convective conditions. Dep. of Earth Sciences, Meteorology, *Report No. 88*, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden, 24 pp. + figs.

Kauker, F. and Meier, H. E. M. 2002. Reconstructing atmospheric surface data for the period 1902-1998 to force a coupled ocean-sea ice model of the Baltic Sea. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 99*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 30 pp.

Laanearu, J. 2000. Some aspects of the topographic control of rotating deep-water flows. *DM-84*, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden, 44 pp.

Lindström, G. 2002. Vattentillgång och höga flöden i Sverige under 1900-talet. *Reports Hydrology No. 18*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 38 s. (Även Elforsk rapport 02:39)

Mattson, J. and Rummukainen, M. 1998. Växthuseffekten och klimatet i Norden - en översikt. *Meteorologi, Nr 88*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 19 pp.

Meier, H. E. M. 1999a. First results of multi-year simulations using a 3D Baltic Sea model. *Reports Oceanography No. 27*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 48 pp.

Meier, H. E. M. 2000a. The use of the k-epsilon turbulence model within the Rossby Centre regional ocean climate model: parameterization development and results. *Reports Oceanography No. 28*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 81 pp.

Meier, H. E. M. 2001b. The first Rossby Centre regional climate scenario for the Baltic Sea using a 3D coupled ice-ocean model. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 95*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 63 pp.

Meier, H. E. M. and Kauker, F. 2002a. Simulating Baltic Sea climate for the period 1902-1998 with the Rossby Centre coupled ice-ocean model. *Reports Oceanography No. 30*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 111 pp.

Meier, H. E. M., Döscher, R., Coward, A. C., Nycander, J. and Döös, K. 1999. RCO – Rossby Centre regional Ocean climate model: model description (version 1.0) and first results from the hindcast period 1992/93. *Reports Oceanography No. 26*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 102 pp.

Nohrstedt, H.-Ö., Sellberg, B., Björck, J., Lilliesköld, M., Naumburg, C., Nilsson, J., Nylander, J. och Rummukainen, M. 2002. *Klimatforskning*, Rapport Forskningsrådet för miljö, areella näringar och samhällsbyggande, Formas, Stockholm, Sweden, 60 s.

Nycander, J. and Döös, K. 2001. Open boundary conditions for barotropic waves. *FOI-R--0078--SE*, FOI- Swedish Defense Research Agency, Systems Technology, SE-172 90 Stockholm, Sweden, 47 pp.+figs.

Oerlemans, J., Räisänen, J. and Rummukainen, M. 1999. Forcing glacier models with climate scenarios calculated by SWECLIM. *DM-80*, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden, 8 pp.

Persson, G. (ed.) 2003. Klimatmodellering och klimatscenarier ur SWECLIMs perspektiv. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 102*, SMHI, SE-601 76 Norrköping, Sweden, in press.

Persson, G. and Lindström, G. 2003. Risken för höga flöden. K. Skogs-o. Lantbr.akad. Tidskr. 142:22, 9-13.

Rodhe, J. and Sjöberg, B. 2003. Processes of importance for the large-scale salinity distribution of a semi-enclosed sea such as the Baltic Sea – report from the SWECLIM-MARE workshop at Kristineberg, Sweden, 2002. Earth sciences centre, Göteborg University, *Report C50*, 30 pp.

Rummukainen, M. 1997. Methods of statistical downscaling of GCM simulations. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 80*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 29 pp.

Rummukainen, M. 1999a. On the climate change debate. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 86*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 27 pp.

Rummukainen, M., Räisänen, J., Ullerstig, A., Bringfelt, B., Hansson, U., Graham, P. and Willén, U. 1998. RCA – Rossby Centre regional Atmospheric climate model: model description and results from the first multi-year simulation. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 83*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 76 pp.

Rummukainen, M., Bergström, S., Källén, E., Moen, L., Rodhe, J. and Tjernström, M. 2000. SWECLIM – the first three years. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 94*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 87 pp.

Räisänen, J. 2000a. CO₂-induced climate change in northern Europe: Comparison of 12 CMIP2 experiments. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 87*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 59 pp.

Räisänen, J. and Döscher, R. 1999. Simulation of present-day climate in Northern Europe in the HadCM2 OAGCM. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 84*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 37 pp.

Räisänen, J., Rummukainen, M., Ullerstig, A., Bringfelt, B., Hansson, U. and Willén, U. 1999. The First Rossby Centre Regional Climate Scenario – Dynamical Downscaling of CO₂-induced Climate Change in the HadCM2 GCM. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 85*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 56 pp.

Räisänen, P., Rummukainen, M. and Räisänen, J. 2000a. Modification of the HIRLAM radiation scheme for use in the Rossby Centre regional atmospheric climate model. *Report No. 49*, Department of Meteorology, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland, 71 pp.

Räisänen, J., Hansson, U., Ullerstig, A., Döscher, R., Graham, L. P., Jones, C., Meier, M., Samuelsson, P. and Willén, U. 2003b. GCM driven simulations of recent and future climate with the Rossby Centre coupled atmosphere – Baltic Sea regional elimate model RCAO. *Reports Meteorology and Climatology No. 101*, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden, 61 pp.

SWECLIM 1998. Regional climate simulations for the Nordic region - First results from SWECLIM, 22 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 1999a. *Klimatet i framtiden*. Årsrapport 1998, 24 s. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 1999b. *Report prepared for scientific evaluation of SWECLIM, phase 1.* September 1999, 183 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2000a. *Klimatet angår oss alla*. Årsrapport 1999, 28 s. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2000b. *Plans for phase 2* (July 2000 – June 2003) of the MISTRA-supported SWECLIM program. April 28, 2000. 48 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2000c. *Revised plan for 2001* (first annual planrevision in SWECLIM, phase 2). November 28, 2000, 53 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2001a. Ökad säkerhet i klimatfrågan. Årsrapport 2000, 28 s. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2001b. *Revised plan for 2002* (second annual planrevision in SWECLIM, phase 2). November 23, 2001, 63 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2002a. *Expertstöd i klimatfrågan*. Årsrapport 2001, 32 s. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2002b. *Nyttoutvärdering av SWECLIM, om programmets utåtriktade verksamhet*, 26 s. [Fristående PM, tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2002c. *Revised plan for 2003* (third annual planrevision in SWECLIM phase 2). November 28, 2002, 71 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

SWECLIM 2003a. *Extremt nytt om klimatet*. Årsrapport 2002, 32 s. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

Swedish Climate Modelling Programme 1995. *Research Proposal*. December 1995, 78 pp. [Tillgänglig från Rossby Centre, SMHI, 601 76 Norrköping.]

Undén, P., Rontu, L., Järvinen, H., Lynch, P., Calvo, J., Cats, G., Cuxart, J., Eerola, K., Fortelius, C., Garcia-Moya, J. A., Jones, C., Lenderlink, G., McDonald, A., McGrath, R., Navascues, B., Nielsen, N. W., Ødegaard, V., Rodriguez, E., Rummukainen, M., Rõõm, R., Sattler, K., Sass, B. H., Savijärvi, H., Wichers Schreur, B., Sigg, R., Han Then and Tijm, A. 2002. *HIRLAM-5 Scientific*

Documentation, 144 pp. [Available from HIRLAM-5 Project, c/o Per Undén, SMHI, SE-601 76 Norrköping, Sweden.]

Xu, C. 1998. From GCMs to river flow. A review of downscaling methods and hydrological modelling approaches. *Report Series A No. 54*, Uppsala University, Dept of Earth Sciences, Hydrology, Uppsala, Sweden, 27 pp.

Zurovac-Jevtic, D. 1999. A comparison between two anvil cirrus parameterizations using a 1-D cloud model. *DM-83*, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden, 31 pp.

8.3 Published conference abstracts and contributions to proceedings

Andréasson, J. and Graham, L. P. 2002. Assessing uncertainty in future water resources studies by using different climate scenario downscaling techniques. In: *International workshop on regional Integrated Assessment of Climate Impacts Abstracts*, Il Ciocco, Italy, 16-20 September 2002, 8.

Andréasson, J., Bergström, S., Carlsson, B. and Graham, L. P. 2003. The effect of downscaling techniques on assessing water resources impacts from climate change scenarios. In: D. Rosbjerg (ed.) *Proceedings from Coupled Climate-Land Surface Modelling Approaches, Symposium HS02a of the XXIII General Assembly of the International Union of Geodesy and Geophysics*. Sapporo, Japan, June 30-July 11. IAHS Publication no. 280, 160-164.

Arritt, R.W., Gutowski, W. J., Tackle, E. S., Pan, Z., Anderson, C. J., Otieno, F., Ramos da Silva, R., de Castro, M., Caya, D., Chen, S.-C., Christensen, J. H., Fox-Rabinovitz, M., Giorgi, F., Grell, G., Hong, S.-Y., Juang, H.-M. H., Katzfey, J. J., Lapenta, W. M., Laprise, R., Liston, G., McGregor, J. L., Pal, J. S., Pielke, R. A., Roads, J. O., Rummukainen, M. and Taylor, J. A. 2000. PIRCS: Intercomparisons for the 1993 U. S. flood. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Bergström, S. 1999a. Land surface parameterisation from a hydrologist's point of view. In: *HIRLAM 4 Workshop on Physical Parameterisation*, Madrid, 11-13 November, 1998. Met Éireann, Glasnevin Hill, Dublin 9, Ireland, 184-188.

Bergström, S. 2002a. Vattenkraft och flöden. In: K. Elmered (red.) *Kraft ur vatten-hållbar vattenkraft?* En dokumentation från edbergseminariet, Karlstad den 21-22 januari 2002, Universitetstryckeriet, Karlstads universitet, 79-86.

Bergström, S. 2002b. The HBV model after 30 years - from the international hydrological decade to global warming. In: Å. Killingtveit (ed.), XXII Nordic Hydrological Conference, Røros, Norway, 4-7 August 2002. *Nordic Hydrological Programme (NHP) Report no. 47, vol. 2.* Tapir trykkeri, 771-778.

Bergström, S. 2002c. Dagens och morgondagens extremväder - förhållanden som påverkar vägar och järnvägar. In: VTI konferens 21. Transportforum 2002.

Rapportsammanställning av föredrag vid forskardagarna i Linköping den 9-10 januari 2002. www.vti.se/info/rapporter, 6 s.

Bergström, S. 2002d. Regionala klimatscenarier på 50 till 100 års sikt - effekter på vattenkraft och skogsproduktion. In: Session 8B Energi och klimat - flexibla mekanismer och sänkor. Referat från föredrag vid Sveriges Energiting i Eskilstuna 12-13 mars 2002, 1 s.

Bergström, S. and Lindström, G. 1999. Floods in regulated rives and physical planning in Sweden. In: Turfan, M. (ed.) *Benefits of and Concerns about Dams - Case Studies, on the Occasion of the 67th Annual Meeting of International Commission on Large dams - ICOLD*, Antalya, Turkey, September 24, 1999, 193-201.

Bergström, S., Lindström, G. and Gardelin, M. 1999. A hydrological perspective on unification of meteorological and hydrological land surface models. In: *Proceedings from the BALTEX workshop on Parameterization of surface fluxes, atmospheric planetary boundary layer and ocean mixed layer turbulence for BRIDGE - What can we learn from field experiments*. Abisko, Sweden, June 20 -21, 1999. International BALTEX Secretariat publication series, 61-67.

Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Gardelin, M., Lindström, G. and Pettersson, A. 2000. Water resources simulations based on climate change scenarios within SWECLIM. XXI Nordic Hydrological Conference. *NHP Report No. 46*, 315-322.

Bergström, S., Graham, L. P. and Gardelin, M. 2001b. Climate change impacts on the hydrology of the Baltic Basin. In: J. Meywerk (ed.), Proceedings of the third study conference on BALTEX, Mariehamn, Åland, Finland, July 2-6, 2001. *International BALTEX Secretariat publication series 20*, GKSS, Geesthacht, Germany, 17-18.

Bergström, S., Graham, L. P. and Persson, G. 2002. *The origin of uncertainty in assessments of future hydropower production in Scandinavia*. Abstract Volume for the 12th Stockholm Water Symposium, August 12-15, 271-273.

Bowling, L., Lettenmaier, D. and Graham, L. P. 2001. Land-surface parameterizations in northern regions: preliminary results from the PILPS 2e model intercomparison. In: J. Meywerk (ed.), Proceedings of the third study conference on BALTEX, Mariehamn, Åland, Finland, July 2-6, 2001. *International BALTEX Secretariat publication series 20*, GKSS, Geesthacht, Germany, 25-26.

Brandefelt, J. and Källén, E. 2001. Regime transitions and climate change. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 3*. [European Geophysical Society 26th General Assembly, Nice 26-30 March 2001.] (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Bringfelt, B., Gollvik, S. and Samuelsson, P. 2000. Land surface scheme used for the regional climate simulations in SWECLIM. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2.* [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Busuioc, A., Chen, D. and Hellström, C. 1999. Performance of statistical downscaling models in GCM validation and regional climate change estimates: Application for Swedish precipitation. In: *Abstracts, Conference on Detection and Modeling of Regional Climate Change, 9-12 June 1999.* The Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics, Trieste, Italy. pp. N/A.

Carlsson, B., Andréasson, J., Gardelin, M. and Lindström, G. 2002. HBV model simulations based on climate change scenarios for Sweden. In Killingtveit, Å. (Ed.) XXII Nordic Hydrological Conference, Røros, Norway, 4-7 August 2002. *Nordic Hydrological Programme (NHP) Report no. 47, vol. 2.* Tapir trykkeri, 545-554.

Chen, D. 2000b. Statistical and dynamical downscaling activities within SWECLIM. In: *Proceedings of International Conference and Young Scientist Workshop on Asian Monsoon Environmental System and Global Change (AMESG)*, November 15-17, 2000 in Nanjing University, Nanjing, China, 7.

Döscher, R. 1999. The Rossby Centre Sea Ice Model. In: Proceedings from RegClim Annual Workshop. Jevnaker, Norway, 31 May – 1 June, 1999. *RegClim, General Technical Report No. 2*, 47-53.

Döscher, R. and Meier, H. E. M. 2000. Sensitivity of an EVP sea-ice model in the Baltic Sea. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN:1029-7006)

Döscher, R., Hansson, U., Jones, C., Meier, H. E. M., Rutgersson, A. and Willén, U. 2001. The development of the coupled ocean-atmosphere model RCAO. In: J. Meywerk (ed.), Proceedings of the third study conference on BALTEX, Mariehamn, Åland, Finland, July 2 - 6, 2001. *International BALTEX Secretariat publication series 20*, GKSS, Geesthacht, Germany, 45-46.

Döös, K., Jönsson, B., Nycander, J., Lundberg, P., Döscher, R. and Meier, M. 2001. Lagrangian trajectory study of the Baltic Sea circulation. *BSSC 2001 Abstract Volume*, Stockholm Marine Research Centre, 105.

Graham, L. P. 1999a. Hydrology at the Rossby Centre. In: Proceedings from RegClim Annual Workshop. Jevnaker, Norway, 31 May – 1 June, 1999. *RegClim, General Technical Report No. 2*, 55-58.

Graham, L. P. 1999b. Modeling climate change for the Baltic Sea basin: from a hydrological perspective. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts 1:2.* 24th General Assembly of the EGS, The Hague, 19-23 April 1999, 464.

Graham, L. P. 2002a. A simple runoff routing routine for the Rossby Centre regional climate model. In Killingtveit, Å. (Ed.) XXII Nordic Hydrological Conference, Røros, Norway, 4-7 August 2002. *Nordic Hydrological Programme (NHP) Report no. 47, vol. 2.* Tapir trykkeri. 573-580.

Graham, L. P. 2002b. Update on SWECLIM activities and Nordic climate cooperation. In: T. Iversen and C. Lunder (eds.), Proceedings from RegClim Annual Workshop. Kjeller, Norway, 6-7 May. *General Technical Report No. 6*, 33-39.

- Graham, L. P. and Bergström, S. 1999. Land surface modelling in Hydrology and meteorology will they ever meet? Key note presentation at EGS XXIV, HSA3 Hydrology in GCMs: current performance and future developments. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts 1:2.* 24th General Assembly of the EGS, The Hague, 19-23 April 1999, 289.
- Graham, L. P. and Bringfelt, B. 2001. Towards improved modelling of runoff in climate models. In: J. Meywerk (ed.), Proceedings of the third study conference on BALTEX, Mariehamn, Åland, Finland, July 2-6, 2001. *International BALTEX Secretariat publication series 20*, GKSS, Geesthacht, Germany, 71-72.
- Graham, L. P. and Persson, G. 2002. Alternative approaches to assessing climate change impacts on water resources. In: *International workshop on regional Integrated Assessment of Climate Impacts, Abstracts, Il Ciocco, Italy, 16-20 September 2002,* 17.
- Graham, L. P., Bergström, S. and Jacob, D. 1998. A discussion of land parameterizations in hydrological and and climate models Example from the Baltic Sea region. *Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Climate and Water, Vol 2*, Espoo, Finland, 17-20 August, 663-672.
- Graham, L. P., Bergström, S., Carlsson, B., Gardelin, M. and Lindström, G. 2001b. Towards improved modeling of climate change impacts on water resources in the Nordic Region. In: E. Kuusisto (ed.) *Proceedings from the Northern Research Basins 13th International Symposium and Workshop. Saariselkä, Finland/Murmansk, Russia, 19-24 August.* Finnish Environment Institute, 51-60.
- Graham, L. P., Lindström, G., Bringfelt, B., Gardelin, M., Gollvik, S., Bergström, S. and Samuelsson, P. 2001c. Using conceptual hydrological modelling to develop better sub-grid variability in the Rossby Centre Regional Atmospheric Model. In: A. J. Dolman, A. J. Hall, M. L. Kavvas, T. Oki and J. W. Pomeroy (eds.) Proceedings from the Soil-Vegetation-Atmosphere Transfer Schemes and Large-Scale Hydrological Models, Symposium S5 of the 6th Scientific Assembly of the IAHS. Maastricht, The Netherlands, 18-27 July. *IAHS Publication No. 270*, 151-158.
- Håkansson, M. and Källén, E. 2000. Effects of vertical diffusion in frontal waves. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006).
- Jones, C. G., Willén, U., Rummukainen, M. and Ullerstig, A. 1999. A comprehensive treatment of clouds and convection for use in regional climate models. In: *Abstracts IUGG99*. IUGG XXII General Assembly, Birmingham, July 19-30, 1999, B.270.
- Jönsson, B., Döös, K., Nycander, J. and Lundberg, P. 2001. Fjord seiches in the Gulf of Finland; possible impacts on the global Baltic seiches. *BSSC 2001 Abstract Volume*, Stockholm Marine Research Centre, 126.
- Källén, E. and Räisänen, J. 1999. SWECLIM regional climate modelling. In: *Abstracts, Conference on Detection and Modeling of Regional Climate Change, 9-12*

June 1999. The Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics, Trieste, Italy. pp. N/A.

Langner, J. and Bergström, R. 2001. Impact of climate change on regional air pollution budgets. In: *Transport and Chemical Transformation in the Troposphere*. Midgley, P., Reuther, M. and Williams, M. (cds.). Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg. [On a CD, ISBN 3-540-41983-7, accompanying the book.]

Lindström, G. 1999. Trends and Variability in Swedish Floods. Contribution to the IAHS Symposium on Hydrological Extremes: Understanding, Predicting and Mitigating. IAHS at IUGG, Birmingham, July 1999. *IAHS Publ. No 255*, IAHS Press, Wallingford, U.K., 91-98.

Lindström, G. 2002. Long term runoff variations in Sweden. In: Å. Killingtveit (ed.), XXII Nordic Hydrological Conference, Røros, Norway, 4-7 August 2002. *Nordic Hydrological Programme (NHP) Report no. 47, vol. 2.* Tapir trykkeri, 603-612.

Lindström, G. and Bergström, S. 2000. Floods in regulated rivers and physical planning - Analysis of recent events in Sweden. In: Proceedings of the European conference on advances in flood research, *PIK Report No. 65, Vol 2,* Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research, Germany, 684-694.

Lindström, G. and Bergström, S. 2003. Long term Variations in Runoff and Temperature in Sweden. In: Franks, S., Blöschl, G., Kumagai, M., Musiake, K. and Rosbjerg, D. (eds.), Water Resources Systems - Water Availability and Global Change. *IAHS Publ. No. 280*, 86-92.

Lindström, G., Gardelin, M., Bringfelt, B. and Gollvik, S. 2000. Integration of hydrological modelling routines in a regional climate model. Proceedings XXI Nordic Hydrological Conference in Uppsala, 26-30 June 2000, *NHP-Report No. 46*, 387-392.

Meier, H. E. M. 1999b. Choices for parameterization of turbulence in the Baltic Sea. Proceedings from the BALTEX workshop on Parameterization of surface fluxes, atmospheric planetary boundary layer and ocean mixed layer turbulence for BRIDGE - What can we learn from field experiments. Abisko, Lapland, Sweden, June 20 -21, 1999. *International BALTEX Secritariat publication series*, 108-115.

Meier, H. E. M. 2000b. Scenario simulations using a coupled ice-ocean Baltic Sea model. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN:1029-7006)

Meier, H. E. M. 200 Ic. The Rossby Centre regional ocean climate model. In: B. Sjöberg, S. Nerheim, A. Stigebrandt, and J. Öberg (Eds.) Long term oceanographic modelling of the Baltic: A report from a scientific workshop arranged by the MARE research programme. Göteborg university, *Earth Sciences Centre*, *Report C37*, 41-45.

Meier, H. E. M. 2001d. On the need for 3D Baltic Sea models in climate studies. In: B. Sjöberg, S. Nerheim, A. Stigebrandt, and J. Öberg (Eds.) Long term occanographic modelling of the Baltic: A report from a scientific workshop arranged

by the MARE research programme. Göteborg university, *Earth Sciences Centre*, *Report C37*, 63-70.

Meier, H. E. M. 2001e. Simulated water and heat cycles of the Baltic Sea using a 3D coupled ice-ocean model. In: J. Meywerk (Ed.) Proceedings of the third study conference on BALTEX, Mariehamn, Åland, Finland, July 2 - 6, 2001. *International BALTEX Secretariat publication series 20, GKSS*, Geesthacht, Germany, 161-162.

Meier, H. E. M. 2003a. On the sensitivity of Baltic Sea ice variability to changing climate. In: Wang, J. (Ed.) *Proceedings of a workshop on small-scale sea-ice and ocean modeling (SIOM) in the Nearshore Beaufort and Chukchi Seas at the International Arctic Research Center (IARC)*, University of Alaska, Fairbanks, Alaska, August 7-9, 2002, Coastal Marine Institute, University of Alaska, Fairbanks, Alaska, OCS Study MMS 2003-043.

Meier, H. E. M. 2003b. Modelling the changing climate of the Baltic Sea during the 20th and 21st Century. In: *Abstract Publication of the Baltic Sea Science Congress* 2003, Helsinki, Finland, August 24-28, 2003, 3.

Meier, H. E. M. and Kauker, F. 2002b. Long-term simulations of the Baltic Sea using a 3D coupled ice-ocean model. *NSC Annual Progress Report, July 2000 - June 2001*, National Supercomputer Centre, Linköping University, SE-58183 Linköping, Sweden, 66-73.

Meier, H. E. M. and Kauker, F. 2002c. Modelling decadal variability of the Baltic Sea during 1902-1998. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol.3*. [European Geophysical Society 27th General Assembly, Nice, France, 21-25 April 2002]. (CD-ROM, ISSN:1029-7006)

Omstedt, A. 1999. Modelling climate change for the Baltic Sea basin: From an ocean perspective. Invited lecture EGS. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts 1:2.* 24th General Assembly of the EGS, The Hague, 19-23 April 1999, 464.

Rodhe, J. 2003. On the processes determining the overall salinity of the Baltic Sea. IUGG 2003 Scientific Program and Abstracts (General Assembly, Sapporo 30-11 July 2003). CD-ROM.

Rodhe, J. and Winsor, P. 2001a. On the causes of the Baltic Sea salinity variations. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 3*. [European Geophysical Society 26th General Assembly, Nice 26-30 March 2001.] (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Rodhe, J. and Winsor, P. 2001b. On the influence of the freshwater supply on the Baltic Sea mean salinity. *BSSC 2001 Abstract Volume*, Stockholm Marine Research Centre, 282.

Rummukainen, M. 1999b. Choice of turbulence parameterization in the HIRLAM-based regional climate model at Rossby Centre. In: *HIRLAM 4 Workshop on Physical Parameterisation, Madrid, 11-13 November, 1998,* 79-84. Met Éireann, Glasnevin Hill, Dublin 9, Ireland, 79-84.

Rummukainen, M. 1999c. The second SWECLIM regional climate simulations. In: Proceedings from RegClim Annual Workshop. Jevnaker, Norway, 31 May – 1 June, 1999. *RegClim, General Technical Report No. 2*, 43-46.

Rummukainen, M. 2000a. The SWECLIM regional climate modeling program; recent developments. In: Presentations from workshop 8 May – 9 May 2000 at Jevnaker, Norway. *RegClim General Technical Report No. 4*, 63-70.

Rummukainen, M. 2000b. Regional climate modeling for (Northern) Europe. In: Summaries and abstracts of the 22nd Nordic Meteorologists' Meeting in Mariehamn, Åland, 27.6.-1.7.2000, 16-21.

Rummukainen, M., 2001b, SWECLIM regional climate modeling. In: *Climate Change and variability in northern Europe, Climate Change Symposium in Turku, Finland, 6-8th June 2001, 50.*

Rummukainen, M. 2001c, Regional climate modeling in SWECLIM (The Swedish regional climate modeling program). In I. Fløisand (Ed.), Climate and Ozone Programme Conference, *NILU OR 66/2001*, 59-61.

Rummukainen, M. 2002a. The use and abuse of regional climate modeling. In: Climate Change, Challenges for Ireland. *Abstracts of a symposium by the Royal Irish Academy, Dublin, Ireland, June 12, 2002,* 9-12.

Rummukainen, M. 2002b. Klimatförändringar och regionala klimatscenarier på 50-100 års sikt – utmaningar och möjligheter. In: Session 11 Energiframsyn; Sverige i Europa. Referat från föredrag vid Sveriges Energiting i Eskilstuna 12-13 mars 2002. 1s.

Rummukainen, M., Räisänen, J., Ullerstig, A., Bringfelt, B., Jones, C., Willén, U. and Hansson, U. 1999a. Rossby Centre regional climate simulations for the Nordic countries. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts 1:2.* 24th General Assembly of the EGS, The Hague, 19-23 April 1999, 548.

Rummukainen, M., Ullerstig, A., Räisänen, J., Bringfelt, B., Omstedt, A., Jones, C., Willén, U., Graham, P. and Hansson, U. 1999b. Regional interpretation of climate scenarios for northern Europe; coupling of an atmospheric model, a 1.5-D regional ocean model, lake models and hydrological modeling. In: *Abstracts IUGG99*. IUGG XXII General Assembly, Birmingham, July 19-30, 1999, A.248.

Rummukainen, M., Bjørge, D., Christensen, J. H., Christensen, O. B., Iversen, T., Jylhä, K., Ólafsson, H., Räisänen, J. and Tuomenvirta, H. 2002. Regional climate scenarios for use in Nordic water resources studies. In Killingtveit, Å. (Ed.) XXII Nordic Hydrological Conference, Røros, Norway, 4-7 August 2002. *Nordic Hydrological Programme (NHP) Report no. 47, vol. 2.* Tapir trykkeri, 563-572.

Rummukainen, M., Döscher, R., Graham, L. P., Hansson, U., Jones, C, Meier, M., Räisänen, J., Samuelsson, P., Ullerstig, A. and Willén, U. 2002. PRUDENCE-related regional climate modeling at the SMHI/Rossby Centre, Norrköping. In: PRUDENCE kick-off meeting Snekkersten December 3-5, 2001. *Danish Climate Centre Report No. 01-8*, Danish Meteorological Institute, Copenhagen, Denmark, 40-41.

Räisänen, J. 1999b. Quantifying interexperiment agreement on local CO₂-induced climate change and the influence of internal variability on this. In: *Abstracts*, 4th International Conference on Modelling of Global Climate Change and Variability, Hamburg 13-17 September 1999, 187.

Räisänen, J. 2000b. CO₂-induced climate change in northern Europe: comparison of the CMIP2 experiments. In: *Summaries and abstracts of the 22nd Nordic Meteorologists' Meeting in Mariehamn, Åland, 27.6.-1.7.2000, 22-27.*

Räisänen, J. 2001c. CO₂-induced changes in interannual temperature and precipitation variability in CMIP2 experiments. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 3*. [European Geophysical Society 26th General Assembly, Nice 26-30 March 2001]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006).

Räisänen, J. 2001d. CO2-induced changes in mean climate and interannual variability in northern Europe in 19 global models. In: *Climate Change and variability in northern Europe, Climate Change Symposium in Turku, Finland, 6-8th June 2001*, 51.

Räisänen, J. 2002b. Model-simulated CO2-induced changes in seasonal precipitation extremes. In: *Workshop report. IPCC Workshop on Changes in Extreme Weather and Climate Events, Beijing, China, 11-13 June 2002*, 66. [Available at http://www.ipcc.ch/pub/support.htm]

Räisänen, J. and Joelsson, R. 2001b. Changes in yearly maximum one-day precipitation in Rossby Centre regional climate change experiments. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 3*. [European Geophysical Society 26th General Assembly, Nice 26-30 March 2001]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006).

Räisänen, J. and Palmer, T. N. 2001b. Estimating uncertainty in projections of future climate change and dealing with it. In: *Challenges of a Changing Earth: Global Change Open Science Conference, Amsterdam, 10-13 July 2001, 42.*

Räisänen, J., Bjørge, D., Christensen, J. H., Christensen, O. B., Iversen, T. and Rummukainen, M. 2000a. Comparison of the NordEnsClim regional climate change simulations. Presentations from workshop 8 May - 9 May 2000 at Jevnaker, Norway. *RegClim General Technical Report No. 4*, 71-78.

Räisänen, J., Rummukainen, M. and Ullerstig, A. 2000b. Downscaling of greenhouse gas induced climate change in two GCMs with the RCA1 regional climate model for northern Europe. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Räisänen, P., Rummukainen, M. and Räisänen, J. 2001. Modifying the radiation scheme in the Rossby Centre regional atmospheric climate model. In: W. L. Smith and Yu. M. Timofeyev (Eds.) IRS 2000: *Current problems in atmospheric radiation*. A. Deepak Publishing, Hampton, Virginia, United States, 1275-1278.

Sigray, P., Döös, K. and Lundberg, P. 2001. Studies of current variability between Gotland and Mainland. *BSSC 2001 Abstract Volume*, Stockholm Marine Research Centre, 119.

Tjernström, M. 1999. Parameterizations of soil and surface processes in SWECLIM. In: Proceedings from the BALTEX workshop on Parameterization of surface fluxes, atmospheric planetary boundary layer and ocean mixed layer turbulence for BRIDGE - What can we learn from field experiments. Abisko, Sweden, June 20 -21, 1999. *International BALTEX Secritariat publication series*, 55-60.

de Vries, P., Drijfhout, S. S., Döös, K., Coward, A. C. and Mei-Man Lee 2000. Density transformations of north atlantic deep water. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Willén, U. and Jones, C. G. 2000. Modelling clouds and convection in regional climate models (RCMs). In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

Willén, U., Jones, C. and Rummukainen, M. 1999. Sensitivity study of the interaction of clouds and radiation in RCA. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts 1:2*. 24th General Assembly of the EGS, The Hague, 19-23 April 1999, 567.

Willén, U., Jones, C., Baltink, H.-K. and Quante, M. 2002. Comparison of model and cloud radar derived cloud overlap. In: *American Meteorological Society Abstracts* 11th Conference on Cloud Physics, Ogden, Utah, USA, 3-7 June 2002, 19.

Winsor, P., Rodhe, J. and Omstedt, A. 2000. Baltic Sea ocean climate - an analysis of 100 years of hydrographic data with focus on the freshwater budget. In: *Geophysical Research Abstracts Vol 2*. [European Geophysical Society 25th General Assembly, Nice 25-29 April 2000]. (CD-ROM, ISSN: 1029-7006)

8.4 SWECLIM Newsletters

SWECLIM published 14 issues of the approximately semiannual program Newsletter. The total number of pages amounted to 509. The first issue came out in May 1998, and the final on in May 2003. In addition to general overviews of various program activities and posted short news items, the most recent research results were presented. A number of external researches received the Newsletter free of charge. During Phase 2 the new issues of the Newsletter were made available, in full, also at www.smhi.se/sweclim.

8.5 Dissertations and Masters theses

SWECLIM contributed to the education of a number of doctoral students. They in turn contributed to the work done by SWECLIM. The theses so far prepared with major or minor support from SWECLIM are listed below. Additional few are expected to appear in 2004.

At the termination of SWECLIM as a Mistra-program, the onetime doctoral students continued their research. Anna Bratt was preparing to defend her thesis at Linköping University. Annica Ekman was about to return to Sweden (MISU) from a postdoc visit at MIT in USA on a Wallenberg stipend. Phil Graham was employed as a research hydrologist at the Rossby Centre of the SMHI. Cecilia Hellström pursued her research at Göteborg University. Måns Håkansson was employed by the Swedish energy production company Vattenfall. Anna Rutgersson did research at Uppsala University with funding from the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet) in collaboration with the Rossby Centre. Robert Sigg worked for the Swedish defense research agency, FOI. Also Dance Zurovac-Jevtic was a Wallenberg postdoc stipendiary at MIT after working within SWECLIM. Presently she is continuing her research work at MISU.

The few postdoctoral researchers that SWECLIM employed during the program were likewise fully occupied afterwards. Patrick Samuelsson was affiliated at the Rossby Centre and Regine Hock obtained a "forskarassistent" position from the Swedish Research Council, and worked at Stockholm University.

Bratt, A.-L. 2003. *Managing agricultural nutrient leaching within the EC Water Framework Directive in Sweden.* Doctoral thesis, Department of Water and Environmental Studies, Linköping University. Linköping studies in arts and Science No. 284. UniTryck, Linköping, Sweden. ISBN 91-7373-788-7. 60 pp + 5 papers.

Ekman, A. M. L. 2001. *The atmospheric sulfur cycle and its impact on the European climate. A model study.* Doctoral thesis, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University, Enheten för IT och Media, Stockholm University, Sweden. ISBN 91-7265-288-8, 35 pp + 4 papers.

Graham, L. P. 2000. *Large-Scale Hydrologic Modeling in the Baltic Basin*. Doctoral Thesis, Division of Hydraulic Engineering, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm. ISBN 91-7170-518-X, 55 pp. + 5 papers.

Green, M. 1999. On the circulation and mixing in the Kattegatt and the Skagerrak. Master thesis, Oceanography, Göteborg University. ISSN 1400-3821, 19 pp.

Hellström, C. 2003. *Regional precipitation in Sweden in relation to large-scale climate*. Doctoral thesis, Department of Physical Geography, ISSN 1400-3813, 34 pp. + 6 papers.

Håkansson, M. 2002. Winds, shear and turbulence in atmospheric observations and models. Doctoral thesis, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University, Pitney Bowes Management Services, Stockholm, Sweden. ISBN 91-7265-497-X, 34 pp + 5 papers.

Rutgersson, A. 2000. *Water and Heat Exchange Processes over the Baltic Sea.* Doctoral Thesis, Comprehensive Summaries of Uppsala Dissertations from the Faculty of Science and Technology 530, Uppsala University, University Printers, Ekonomikum, Uppsala, Sweden. ISBN 91-554-4705-8, 36 pp. + 5 papers.

Sigg, R. 2000. Studies of stratocumulus-topped boundary layers using a numerical weather prediction model. Doctoral thesis, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University, Academitryck AB, Edsbruk, Sweden. ISBN 91-7265-146-6, 30 pp + 4 papers.

Zurovac-Jevtic, D. 1999. *Dynamic modeling of cirrus cloud characteristics*. Doctoral thesis, Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University. ISBN 91-7153-905-0, 22 pp. + four papers.

8.6 Popular articles, external Newsletter contributions

Andréasson, J., Gardelin, M. and Bergström, S. 2002. Modelling hydrological impacts of climate change in the Lake Vänern region in Sweden. *Vatten 58*, 25-32.

Bergh, J., Flemberg, S., Kindberg, J., Linder, S., Räisänen, J., Strömgren, M. and Walling, G. 2000. Framtida klimatförändringar - tänkbara effekter på den svenska skogen. *FAKTASkog Nr 13*. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, SLU Reproenheten, Uppsala, Sverige.

Bergström, S. 1999b. Konsekvenser av klimatförändringar (Föredrag vid VAV-dag i Säffle den 10 november 1999). *Meddelande VAV M111*, 13-17.

Bergström, S. 2000. Perspektiv på sommarens översvämningar. *Stadsbyggnad 5-2000*, 3-5.

Bernes, C. 2003. En varmare värld. Växthuseffekten och klimatets förändringar. *Monitor 18*. ISBN 91-620-1228-2. AB Danagårds Grafiska, Ödeshög. 168 s. (Also published in English as "A warmer world".)

Bringfelt, B. 1999. The land surface treatment used for the second regional climate simulation (RCA1) at the Rossby Centre. *HIRLAM Newsletter 34*, November 1999, 52-56.

Bringfelt, B. and Räisänen, J. 2000. Some developments of the HIRLAM land-surface treatment at the Rossby Centre. *HIRLAM Newsletter 35*, 143-148.

Bringfelt, B., Räisänen, J., Gollvik, S. and Ullerstig, A. 2000. A land-surface treatment at the Rossby Centre intended for RCA2. *HIRLAM Newsletter 36*, 32-41.

Döscher, R. and Meier, H. E. M. 2002. A new tool for coupled simulations of the BALTEX area: RCAO. *Baltex Newsletter*, 4, 1-3.

Joelsson, R. 1999a. Nordens klimat i förändring, även några kommentarer om globala klimatet. *Mekanisten 1999:2*, 15-20.

Joelsson, R. 1999b. Konsekvenser av klimatförändringar. *Meddelande VAV M111*, 8-11.

Joelsson, R. 1999c. Vårt klimat i förändring. Nytt från STOSEB 4/99, 8-9.

Joelsson, R. 1999d. Klimatet om hundra år. t - tidskriften om teknik, människor och utveckling inom J&W, 4-5.

Jones, C. and Sanchez, E. 2002. The representation of Shallow cumulus convection and associated cloud fields in the Rossby Centre Atmospheric Model (RCA). *HIRLAM Newsletter 41*, 91-106.

Källén, E. 2001. Globala och regionala klimatändringar. Fysik-aktuellt, Nr 1, 18-25.

Källén, E., Pailleux, J., Stoffelen, A. and Vaughan, M. 1999. Atmospheric Dynamics Mission. ESA Reports for Mission Selection, The Four Candidate Earth Explorer Core Missions, *ESA SP-1233(4)*, July 1999, 155 pp.

Meier, H. E. M. and Kauker, F. 2002d. Modeling Baltic Sea climate for the period 1902-1998. *BALTEX Newsletter*, 4, 3-6.

Palmer, T. N. and Räisänen, J. 2001. Quantifying risk in a changing climate. CLIVAR Exchanges 6:3, 3-4.

Persson, G. 2002. Påverkan av framtida klimat. Sveriges utsädesförenings tidskrift (Journal of the Swedish Seed Association), 112:1-2, 7-9.

Persson, G. 2003. Climate change and water resources of tomorrow. *Montel Powernews, vol 1, nr 4,* 20-22.

Rummukainen, M. 2001d. Allt färre mätstationer är förklaringen. Återkoppling. Forskning&Framsteg Nr 2, 2001, 56-57.

Rummukainen, M. 2001e. Ett varmare Sverige – om 100 år. *Miljötrender Nr 3-4*, 3-5.

Rummukainen, M. 2001f. Regional klimatmodellering i Sverige. Formas tidning *Miljöforskning Nr 5-6*, 12-13.

Rummukainen, M. 2002c. Ilmastonmuutos jakaa maapallon vesivarat entistä epätasaisemmin. *Vesitalous 5/2002*, 41-44. ISSN 0505-3838 (in Finnish).

Rummukainen, M. and Bergström, S. 2000. Svenskt framtidsscenario: Norrland får skånskt klimat. Forskning och Framsteg Nr 6 2000, 8-12.

Rummukainen, M. and Räisänen, J. 1998. Ur Rossby Centrets klimatkokbok, *Polarfront 98*, 13-16.

Rummukainen, M., Räisänen, J., Ullerstig, A. and Bringfelt, B. 1999. A regional climate simulation stressing the significance of the Baltic Sca ice and lake ice in the Nordic climate (change). In: Ritchie, H. (ed.) Research activities in atmospheric and oceanic modelling, CAS/JSC working group on numerical experimentation. *Report No. 28, WMO/TD-No. 942*, 7.60-7.61.

Räisänen, P., Rummukainen, M. and Räisänen, J. 2000b. Modification of the HIRLAM radiation scheme for use in the Rossby Centre regional atmospheric climate model. *HIRLAM Newsletter 36*, 48-54.

Tuomenvirta, H. and Räisänen, J. 2002. Arktisen alueen ilmasto – havaintoja ja mallituloksia (The Arctic climate – observations and model results). *Ilmansuojelu 3*, 21-23.

Wang, J., Kwok, R., Saucier, F., Hutchings, J., Ikeda, M., Hibler, W. III, Haapala, J., Coon, M. D., Meier, H. E. M., Eicken, H., Tanaka, N., Prentki, D. and Johnson, W. 2003. Working toward improved small-scale sea ice-ocean modeling in the Arctic seas. *EOS, Trans. AGU 84:34*, 325, 329-330.

8.7 Misc. external publications featuring SWECLIM's results

Please note that in many cases external use of SWECLIM's results led to coauthorship and is thus reported in the previous subsections.

Andersson, A. 2001. *The wind climate of northwestern Europe in SWECLIM regional climate scenarios.* Seminarieuppsatser Nr 80, Naturgeorafiska institutionen, Lunds universitet, 47 pp.

Finnander Linderson, M.-L. 2002. *The spatial distribution of precipitation in Scania, Southern Sweden*. Doctoral dissertation, Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystems Analysis, Lund University. Medd. från Lunds universitets Geografiska inst., avh. 145, ISBN 91-973857-5-1, 138 pp. incl. four papers.

Oredsson, A. 2001. Ett björnbär blir vanligare – rostbjörnbär i flera nya landskap! *Svensk botanisk tidskrift 2001:95:4*, 190-204.

Tuomenvirta, H., Venäläinen, A., Juottonen, A. and Haapala, J. 2000. The impact of climate change on the Baltic Sea ice and soil frost beneath snow-free surfaces in Finland. *Publications of the Ministry of Transport and Communications* 13/2000, Edita Ltd, Helsinki, Finland, 56 pp.

Venäläinen, A., Tuomenvirta, H., Lahtinen, R. and Heikinheimo, M. 2000. Ilmaston lämpenemisen vaikutus routaan lumettomilla paikoilla Suomessa (in Finnish). *FMI-MET-43 (Meteorologisia julkaisuja No. 43)*, Ilmatieteen laitos, Helsinki, Suomi, 29 pp.

Venäläinen, A., Tuomenvirta, H., Heikinheimo, M., Kellomäki, S., Peltola, H., Strandman, H. and Väisänen, H. 2001a. The impact of climate change on soil frost under snow cover in a forested landscape. *Clim. Res.* 17, 3-72.

Venäläinen, A., Tuomenvirta, H., Lahtinen, R. and Heikinheimo, M. 2001b. The influence of climate warming on soil frost on snow-free surfaces in Finland. *Clim. Change 50:1/2*, 111-128.



SMHIs publications

SMHI publishes six report series. Three of these, the R-series, are intended for international readers and are in most cases written in English. For the others the Swedish language is used.

Names of the Series	Published since		
RMK (Report Meteorology and Climatology)	1974		
RH (Report Hydrology)	1990		
RO (Report Oceanography)	1986		
METEOROLOGI	1985		
HYDROLOGI	1985		
OCEANOGRAFI	1985		

Earlier issues published in serie RMK

- Thompson, T., Udin, I., and Omstedt, A. (1974)
 Sea surface temperatures in waters surrounding Sweden.
- Bodin, S. (1974) Development on an unsteady atmospheric boundary layer model.
- Moen, L. (1975) A multi-level quasi-geostrophic model for short range weather predictions,
- Holmström, I. (1976)
 Optimization of atmospheric models.
- 5 Collins, W.G. (1976) A parameterization model for calculation of vertical fluxes of momentum due to terrain induced gravity waves.
- 6 Nyberg, A. (1976) On transport of sulphur over the North Atlantic.
- 7 Lundqvist, J.-E., and Udin, I. (1977) Ice accretion on sbips with special emphasis on Baltic conditions.

- 8 Eriksson, B. (1977)
 Den dagliga och årliga variationen av temperatur, fuktighet och vindhastighet vid några orter i Sverige.
- 9 Holmström, I., and Stokes, J. (1978) Statistical forecasting of sea level changes in the Baltic.
- 10 Omstedt, A., and Sahlberg, J. (1978) Some results from a joint Swedish-Finnish sea ice experiment, March, 1977.
- 11 Haag, T. (1978) Byggnadsindustrins väderberoende, seminarieuppsats i företagsekonomi, B-nivå.
- 12 Eriksson, B. (1978) Vegetationsperioden i Sverige beräknad från temperaturobservationer.
- 13 Bodin, S. (1979) En numerisk prognosmodell f\u00f6r det atmosf\u00e4riska gr\u00e4nsskiktet, grundad p\u00e4 den turbulenta energiekvationen.
- 14 Eriksson, B. (1979)
 Temperaturfluktuationer under senaste 100 åren.

- Udin, I., och Mattisson, I. (1979)
 Havsis- och snöinformation ur datorbearbetade satellitdata - en modellstudie.
- 16 Eriksson, B. (1979) Statistisk analys av nederbördsdata. Del I. Arealnederbörd.
- 17 Eriksson, B. (1980)Statistisk analys av nederbördsdata. Del II.Frekvensanalys av månadsnederbörd.
- 18 Eriksson, B. (1980) Årsmedelvärden (1931-60) av nederbörd, avdunstning och avrinning.
- 19 Omstedt, A. (1980) A sensitivity analysis of steady, free floating ice.
- 20 Persson, C., och Omstedt, G. (1980) En modell för beräkning av luftföroreningars spridning och deposition på mesoskala.
- 21 Jansson, D. (1980) Studier av temperaturinversioner och vertikal vindskjuvning vid Sundsvall-Härnösands flygplats.
- 22 Sahlberg, J., and Törnevik, H. (1980) A study of large scale cooling in the Bay of Bothnia.
- 23 Ericson, K., and Hårsmar, P.-O. (1980) Boundary layer measurements at Klock-rike. Oct. 1977.
- Bringfelt, B. (1980)
 A comparison of forest evapotranspiration determined by some independent methods.
- 25 Bodin, S., and Fredriksson, U. (1980) Uncertainty in wind forecasting for wind power networks.
- 26 Eriksson, B. (1980) Graddagsstatistik för Sverige.
- 27 Eriksson, B.(1981) Statistisk analys av nederbördsdata. Del III. 200-åriga nederbördsserier.
- 28 Eriksson, B. (1981)
 Den "potentiella" evapotranspirationen i
 Sverige.
- Pershagen, H. (1981)Maximisnödjup i Sverige (perioden 1905-70).

- 30 Lönnqvist, O. (1981)
 Nederbördsstatistik med praktiska tillämpningar.
 (Precipitation statistics with practical applications.)
- 31 Melgarejo, J.W. (1981) Similarity theory and resistance laws for the atmospheric boundary layer.
- 32 Liljas, E. (1981) Analys av moln och nederbörd genom automatisk klassning av AVHRR-data.
- 33 Ericson, K. (1982) Atmospheric boundary layer field experiment in Sweden 1980, GOTEX II, part I.
- 34 Schoeffler, P. (1982)
 Dissipation, dispersion and stability of numerical schemes for advection and diffusion.
- 35 Undén, P. (1982) The Swedish Limited Area Model. Part A. Formulation.
- 36 Bringfelt, B. (1982) A forest evapotranspiration model using synoptic data.
- 37 Omstedt, G. (1982) Spridning av luftförorening från skorsten i konvektiva gränsskikt.
- Törnevik, H. (1982)
 An aerobiological model for operational forecasts of pollen concentration in the air.
- 39 Eriksson, B. (1982) Data rörande Sveriges temperaturklimat.
- 40 Omstedt, G. (1984)
 An operational air pollution model using routine meteorological data.
- 41 Persson, C., and Funkquist, L. (1984) Local scale plume model for nitrogen oxides. Model description.
- 42 Gollvik, S. (1984) Estimation of orographic precipitation by dynamical interpretation of synoptic model data.

- 43 Lönnqvist, O. (1984) Congression - A fast regression technique with a great number of functions of all predictors.
- Laurin, S. (1984)
 Population exposure to SO and NO_x from different sources in Stockholm.
- 45 Svensson, J. (1985) Remote sensing of atmospheric tempera-ture profiles by TIROS Operational Vertical Sounder.
- 46 Eriksson, B. (1986) Nederbörds- och humiditetsklimat i Sverige under vegetationsperioden.
- 47 Taesler, R. (1986)Köldperioden av olika längd och förekomst.
- 48 Wu Zengmao (1986) Numerical study of lake-land breeze over Lake Vättern, Sweden.
- 49 Wu Zengmao (1986) Numerical analysis of initialization procedure in a two-dimensional lake breeze model.
- 50 Persson, C. (1986)Local scale plume model for nitrogen oxides. Verification.
- 51 Melgarejo, J.W. (1986)
 An analytical model of the boundary layer above sloping terrain with an application to observations in Antarctica.
- 52 Bringfelt, B. (1986)
 Test of a forest evapotranspiration model.
- Josefsson, W. (1986)Solar ultraviolet radiation in Sweden.
- Dahlström, B. (1986)Determination of areal precipitation for the Baltic Sea.
- 55 Persson, C. (SMHI), Rodhe, H. (MISU), De Geer, L.-E. (FOA) (1986)
 The Chernobyl accident A meteorological analysis of how radionucleides reached Sweden.

- 56 Persson, C., Robertson, L. (SMHI), Grennfelt, P., Kindbom, K., Lövblad, G., och Svanberg, P.-A. (IVL) (1987) Luftföroreningsepisoden över södra Sverige 2 - 4 februari 1987.
- 57 Omstedt, G. (1988) An operational air pollution model.
- 58 Alexandersson, H., Eriksson, B. (1989) Climate fluctuations in Sweden 1860 - 1987.
- 59 Eriksson, B. (1989) Snödjupsförhållanden i Sverige -Säsongerna 1950/51 - 1979/80.
- Omstedt, G., Szegö, J. (1990)
 Människors exponering för luftföroreningar.
- 61 Mueller, L., Robertson, L., Andersson, E., Gustafsson, N. (1990) Meso-γ scale objective analysis of near surface temperature, humidity and wind, and its application in air pollution modelling.
- 62 Andersson, T., Mattisson, I. (1991) A field test of thermometer screens.
- Alexandersson, H., Gollvik, S.,
 Meuller, L. (1991)
 An energy balance model for prediction of surface temperatures.
- Alexandersson, H., Dahlström, B. (1992)
 Future climate in the Nordic region survey and synthesis for the next century.
- 65 Persson, C., Langner, J., Robertson, L. (1994)
 Regional spridningsmodell för Göteborgs och Bohus, Hallands och Älvsborgs län. (A mesoscale air pollution dispersion model for the Swedish west-coast region. In Swedish with captions also in English.)
- 66 Karlsson, K.-G. (1994) Satellite-estimated cloudiness from NOAA AVHRR data in the Nordic area during 1993.
- 67 Karlsson, K-G. (1996) Cloud classifications with the SCANDIA model.

- 68 Persson, C., Ullerstig, A. (1996) Model calculations of dispersion of lindane over Europe. Pilot study with comparisons to measurements around the Baltic Sea and the Kattegat.
- 69 Langner, J., Persson, C., Robertson, L., and Ullerstig, A. (1996) Air pollution Assessment Study Using the MATCH Modelling System. Application to sulfur and nitrogen compounds over Sweden 1994.
- Robertson, L., Langner, J., Engardt, M.
 (1996)
 MATCH Meso-scale Atmosperic Transport and Chemistry modelling system.
- 71 Josefsson, W. (1996)
 Five years of solar UV-radiation monitoring in Sweden.
- 72 Persson, C., Ullerstig, A., Robertson, L., Kindbom, K., Sjöberg, K. (1996) The Swedish Precipitation Chemistry Network. Studies in network design using the MATCH modelling system and statistical methods.
- 73 Robertson, L. (1996) Modelling of anthropogenic sulfur deposition to the African and South American continents.
- Josefsson, W. (1996)Solar UV-radiation monitoring 1996.
- Häggmark, L., Ivarsson, K.-I. (SMHI),
 Olofsson, P.-O. (Militära vädertjänsten).
 (1997)
 MESAN Mesoskalig analys.
- 76 Bringfelt, B, Backström, H, Kindell, S, Omstedt, G, Persson, C, Ullerstig, A. (1997) Calculations of PM-10 concentrations in Swedish cities- Modelling of inhalable particles
- 77 Gollvik, S. (1997)

 The Teleflood project, estimation of precipitation over drainage basins.
- 78 Persson, C., Ullerstig, A. (1997) Regional luftmiljöanalys för Västmanlands län baserad på MATCH modell-beräkningar och mätdata - Analys av 1994 års data

- 79 Josefsson, W., Karlsson, J.-E. (1997) Measurements of total ozone 1994-1996.
- 80 Rummukainen, M. (1997)
 Methods for statistical downscaling of GCM simulations.
- 81 Persson, T. (1997)
 Solar irradiance modelling using satellite retrieved cloudiness A pilot study
- Langner, J., Bergström, R. (SMHI) and Pleijel, K. (IVL) (1998)
 European scale modelling of sulfur, oxidized nitrogen and photochemical oxidants. Model development and evaluation for the 1994 growing season.
- 83 Rummukainen, M., Räisänen, J., Ullerstig, A., Bringfelt, B., Hansson, U., Graham, P., Willén, U. (1998) RCA - Rossby Centre regional Atmospheric climate model: model description and results from the first multi-year simulation.
- 84 Räisänen, J., Döscher, R. (1998) Simulation of present-day climate in Northen Europé in the HadCM2 OAGCM.
- 85 Räisänen, J., Rummukainen, M., Ullerstig, A., Bringfelt, B., Ulf Hansson, U., Willén, U. (1999) The First Rossby Centre Regional Climate Scenario - Dynamical Downscaling of CO₂induced Climate Change in the HadCM2 GCM.
- Rummukainen, Markku. (1999)On the Climate Change debate
- 87 Räisänen, Jouni (2000) CO₂-induced climate change in northern Europé: comparison of 12 CMIP2 experiments.
- 88 Engardt, Magnuz (2000) Sulphur simulations for East Asia using the MATCH model with meteorological data from ECMWF.
- Persson, Thomas (2000)
 Measurements of Solar Radiation in Sweden 1983-1998

		:
		Í

- Daniel B. Michelson, Tage Andersson Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (2000) Jarmo Koistinen, Finnish Meteorological Institute Christopher G. Collier, Telford Institute of Environmental Systems, University of Salford Johann Riedl, German Weather Service Jan Szturc, Institue of Meteorology and Water Management Uta Gjertsen, The Norwegian Meteorological Institute Aage Nielsen, Danish Meteorological Institute Søren Overgaard, Danish Meteorological Institute BALTEX Radar Data Centre Products and their Methodologies
- 91 Josefsson, Weine (2000) Measurements of total ozone 1997 – 1999
- 92 Andersson, Tage (2000) Boundary clear air echos in southern Sweden
- 93 Andersson, Tage (2000)
 Using the Sun to check some weather radar parameters
- Rummukainen, M.,S. Bergström, E. Källén,
 L. Moen, J. Rodhe, M. Tjernström (2000)
 SWECLIM The First Three Years
- 95 Meier, H. E Markus (2001) The first Rossby Centre regional climate scenario for the Baltic Sea using a 3D coupled ice-ocean model
- Landelius, Tomas, Weine Josefsson, Thomas Persson (2001)
 A system for modelling solar radiation parameters with mesoscale spatial resolution
- 97 Karlsson, Karl-Göran (2001)
 A NOAA AVHRR cloud climatology over
 Scandinavia covering the period 1991-2000
- 98 Bringfelt, B., Räisänen, J., Gollvik, S., Lindström, G., Graham, P., Ullerstig, A., (2001) The land surface treatment for the Rossby entre Regional Atmospheric Climate Model version 2 (RCA2)

- 99 Kauker, Frank, Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine Research, Germany and Meier, H.E. Markus, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Rossby Centre, Sweden (2002) Reconstructing atmospheric surface data for the period 1902-1998 to force a coupled ocean-sea ice model of the Baltic Sea.
- 100 Klein, Thomas., Bergström, Robert., Persson, Christer (2002)Parameterization of dry deposition in MATCH
- 101 Räisänen, Jouni., Hansson U., Ullerstig A., Döscher R., Graham L P., Jones C., Meier M., Samuelsson P., Willén U (2003) GCM driven simulations of recent and future climate with the Rossby Centre coupled atmosphere - Baltic Sea regional climate model RCAO
- 102 Persson, Gunn (2003) Klimatmodellering och klimatscenarier ur SWECLIMs perspektiv.
- 103 Segersson, David (2003) Numerical Quantification of Driving Rain on Buildings